
5. AUDITORS REMUNERATION
The annual audit fee approved by the Commission for the
year under review amounts to USD11,500 plus out of
pocket expenses. The same fee will apply for next year.

The Committee has reviewed the above fees and is of the
view that they are reasonable and fair and are not
incompatible with the external auditors’ independence.

Yours faithfully

Y Y Pat Fong (Chairman)

Radhakrishna Chellapermal (Member)

Jawaharlall Lallchand (Member)

74 A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 3
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The Board of the Commission presents its report and the audited financial statements of the Commission for the year ended
30 June 2003.

REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES

The Commission is an independent regulatory authority established under the Financial Services Development Act, 2001 on
the 1st August, 2001 to regulate the non banking financial services sector. The Commission licenses, regulates, monitors
and supervises the conduct of business activities in the said sector.

STATEMENT OF THE BOARD’S RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board of the Commission are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements for each financial year, which
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and income and expenditure account of the Commission.

In preparing those financial statements, the Board is required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures and explained in

the financial statements; and
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Commission

will continue in business.

The Board confirms that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements.

The Board is responsible for the accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Commission. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Commission and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Signed on their behalf

B.R. GUJADHUR D. BASSET M.I. RAJAHBALEE
CHAIRMAN VICE CHAIRMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

6 November 2003

FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION

BOARD’S REPORT

Financial Services Commission Mauritius
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS TO
THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION

(Under Section 8 of the Statutory Bodies (Accounts & Audit) Act 1982 as amended)

We have audited the Financial Statements of the Financial Services Commission (The Commission) for the year ended
30th June 2003, which are set out on pages 80 to 91. These financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention and on the basis of the accounting policies set out on pages 83 to 85.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD OF THE COMMISSION 

The Board of the Commission is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and safeguarding the assets of
the Commission and hence taking reasonable steps for the prevention of fraud and other irregularities.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AUDITORS 

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial statements and to report our
opinion to you.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing. An audit includes an examination, on a
test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment
of the significant estimates and judgements made by the Board of the Commission in the preparation of the financial
statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Commission’s circumstances and adequately
disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations, which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from
material misstatements. In forming our opinion we also evaluate the overall adequacy of the presentation of the information
in the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

We have no relationship with, or interests in the Commission other than in our capacity as auditors.

AUDITORS’ REPORT

CHOKSHI & CHOKSHI (Regd.)

Chartered Accountants
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OPINION

• we have obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for
the purpose of the audit;

• proper books of account have been kept by the Commission as far as appears from our examination of those books;
• the balance sheet and the statement of income and expenditure of the Commission are in agreement with the books of

account;
• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the income and expenditure for the year and of the state of affairs, of

the Commission, as at 30 June 2003;
• in relation to the accounts, this Act has been complied with and no directions have been received from the Minister;
• as far as could be ascertained from our examination of the accounts, no expenditure was of an extravagant or wasteful

nature judged by normal commercial practice and prudence.

For CHOKSHI & CHOKSHI
Chartered Accountants
M.R.Chokshi, Partner

6 November 2003
Port Louis, Mauritius.

101/102, Kshamalaya, 1st Floor, 37, Sir V. Thackersey Marg, Mumbai - 400 020
Phone: 91-22-200 7437/200 3912/233 3912/233 3913 Fax: 91-22-200 32 27
103, Sharda Chambers, 1st floor, 15, Sir V. Thackersey Marg, Mumbai - 400 020
Phone: 91-22-200 4162
Email: chkchk@bom5.vsnl.net.in

Financial Services Commission Mauritius
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NOTE 2003 2002

ASSETS Rs Rs

Fixed assets

Tangible 4(a) 17,936,724 20,241,609

Intangible 4(b) 1,566,026 1,082,930

cccccc cccccc 19,502,750 21,324,539

Non current assets 5 2,395,338 2,311,948

Current assets

Debtors and prepayments 6 59,037,616 39,883,850 

Treasury bills 102,218,781 105,615,475 

Bank and cash balances 7 22,704,051 74,584,410 

Bank deposits 106,021,224 546,574

cccccc cccccc 289,981,672 220,630,309

TOTAL ASSETS 311,879,760 244,266,796 

LIABILITIES

Non current liabilities

Retirement benefit obligations 9 6,730,000 7,710,000 

Current liabilities

Creditors and payables 10 64,576,459 75,847,113

TOTAL LIABILITIES 71,306,459 83,557,113

NET ASSETS 240,573,301 160,709,683

REPRESENTED BY GENERAL FUND 8 240,573,301 160,709,683 

Approved by the Board of the Commission on 6 November 2003

Signed on their behalf

B.R. GUJADHUR D. BASSET M.I. RAJAHBALEE

CHAIRMAN VICE CHAIRMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The accounting policies on pages 83 to 85 and the notes on pages 85 to 91 form an integral part of these financial statements

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 2003
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INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2003

NOTE 2003 2002

Rs Rs

INCOME

Fees 236,714,153 92,699,309

Interest 11 11,418,659 5,877,317

Grant 12 - 100,000,000

248,132,812 198,576,626

EXPENDITURE

Salaries and allowances 13 34,026,305 28,852,989 

Training and seminars 14 3,043,901 2,225,888 

Legal and professional fees 3,415,480 1,668,997 

Office and administrative 15 21,897,798 12,529,885 

Depreciation and amortisation 4(a) & (b) 6,674,118 1,907,741 

Non recurrent 16 100,000 24,000,000 

69,157,602 71,185,500 

SURPLUS OF INCOME OVER EXPENDITURE 178,975,210 127,391,126

Exchange fluctuation (loss)/gain (441,592) 126,801

TRANSFER TO FUND 178,533,618 127,517,927

The accounting policies on pages 83 to 85 and the notes on pages 85 to 91 form an integral part of these financial statements

Financial Services Commission Mauritius
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NOTE 2003 2002

Rs Rs

Cash Flow from operating activities 17 143,855,720 124,413,370
cccccc cccccc 

Cash Flow from investing activities

Interest 11,418,659 5,877,317

Assets transferred from MOBAA - (4,555,485)

Assets transferred from SEC - (654,712)

Fixed assets (5,060,492) (18,022,083)

Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 167,100 -

Non current assets (83,390) (2,311,948)

Net Cash (used in) from investing activities 6,441,877 (19,666,911)

Cash flow from financing activities *

Receipt of grant - 100,000,000

Contribution to Capital Budget 2002-2003 (100,000,000) -

Non Recurrent Expenditure (100,000) (24,000,000)

cccccc cccccc Net Cash (used in) from financing activities (100,100,000) 76,000,000

Net Increase in Cash/Cash Equivalents 50,197,597 180,746,459

Cash and bank balance 75,130,984 -

Treasury Bills 105,615,475 -

Cash/Cash Equivalents at 1 July 2002 180,746,459 -

Cash and bank balance 128,725,275 75,130,984

Treasury Bills 102,218,781 105,615,475

Cash/Cash Equivalents at 30 June 230,944,056 180,746,459

* These include finance for use in operating activities.

The accounting policies on pages 83 to 85 and the notes on pages 85 to 91 form an integral part of these financial
statements

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2003
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1. CONSTITUTION OF THE COMMISSION

The Commission is an independent regulatory authority established under the Financial Services Development Act 2001 on
1 August 2001 to regulate the non-banking financial services sector.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted by the Commission are as follows:

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
These financial statements have been prepared on accrual basis, are in accordance with the historical cost convention, and
comply with the International Accounting Standards. The presentation of the financial statements in accordance with the
International Accounting Standards and generally accepted accounting principles requires the management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount and disclosures in the financial statements. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

2.2 REVENUE
Revenues arising from processing, annual licence, registration and brokerage, where no significant uncertainty as to its
collectibility exists, have been accounted on accrual basis.

Interest on bank deposits and state treasury bills have been accounted for on accrual basis.

2.3 EXPENDITURE
All expenses have been accounted on accrual basis.
Non recurrent expenditure represents donation to Solidarité Rodrigues Relief Fund 2003.

2.4 EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS
The Commission contributes to a defined benefit plan for non-contractual employees, the assets of which are held
independently and administered by an Insurance company, taking account of the recommendations of independent
qualified actuaries.

For defined pension benefit plans, the pension costs are assessed using the projected unit credit method. The costs of
providing pension is charged to the income statement so as to spread the regular cost over the service lines of employees
in accordance with the advise of the actuaries who carry out a full valuation of the plans. The pension obligation is
measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflow using interest rates of government securities which
have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability. Actuarial gains and losses are recognized over the
average remaining service lives of the employees.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR

01 JULY 2002 TO 30 JUNE 2003

Financial Services Commission Mauritius
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2.5 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS AND DEPRECIATION

Fixed assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight line method to write off the cost of each asset to their residual value over their
estimated useful life as follows:

Item %

Motor Vehicles 20

Furniture 20

Office Equipments 20

Computer Equipment 33.33

Renovations / Fitting out at office premises over the lease period

2.6 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
All computer software and development costs, are considered as Intangible Assets and are amortized on straight line
method basis, over the estimated period of utilization not exceeding three years.

2.7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand and bank deposits. Cash Equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

2.8 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Transactions during the year are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the date of transaction.

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to Mauritian rupees at the rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the financial year.

Gains or losses resulting from settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies, are recognized in the Income and Expenditure account.

2.9 TAXATION
The Commission is exempt from the provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1995(as amended).

2.10 IMPAIRMENT 
The Management of the commission reviews the carrying amounts of the tangible and intangible assets during the year to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss and the same is accounted
for, if any.
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2.11 CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE CAPITAL FUND OF THE GOVERNMENT OF MAURITIUS 
The Commission contributes a sum to the Capital Fund of the Government of Mauritius from the General Fund in terms of
the provisions of the Financial Services Development Act, 2001 based on income and expenditure estimates, and as
determined by the Board of the Commission.

2.12 COMPARATIVES
Previous period figures comprise of eleven months and are strictly not comparable with those of the current year and are
regrouped/recasted wherever necessary.

3. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES / COMMITMENTS

3.1 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There are pending law suits against the Commission with claims estimated at Rs.14,153,035 (Previous year: Rs.
9,078,550), however, any consequential claims arising therefrom cannot be quantified. The Commission is of the view that
the liabilities, if any, that may arise in future shall be appropriately dealt within the year of settlement of the claims

All the pension liabilities are generally supported with their respective funds and the additional liabilities thereto, if any,
would be appropriately dealt with in the year of retirement.

3.2 FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
The Commission leases office accommodation at the Harbour Front Building, Port Louis. The lease expires on the
31.12.2005 and the rentals payable up to the date of expiry amount to Rs. 22,626,480(amount due within one year Rs.
9,050,592)

The Commission is in the process of developing computer software for internal use and the amounts committed under the
contract not provided for are Rs. 294,400 (amount due within one year Rs. 294,400)

3.3 STATUTORY DEPOSITS OF INSURANCE COMPANIES 
NOT INCLUDED IN THE BALANCE SHEET
Statutory security deposit certificates of insurance companies pledged in favour of the Commission in terms of the
Insurance Act, 1987, amounting to Rs. 302,099,458 (previous year Rs. 343,530,067) are in physical custody of the
Commission.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR

01 JULY 2002 TO 30 JUNE 2003
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4. FIXED ASSETS

(a) Tangibles

MOTOR COMPUTER OFFICE
VEHICLE FURNITURE EQUIPMENT EQUIPMENT RENOVATION TOTAL

Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs

COST

At 1 July 2002 1,149,848 1,345,063 4,159,467 1,113,012 13,222,406 20,989,796

Adjustment* - 6,304,334 - - (6,304,334) -

Purchase 3,250,000 321,419 483,000 34,860 - 4,089,279

Disposal - (208,163) - - - (208,163)

ccccc ccccc ccccc ccccc ccccc cccccAt 30 June 2003 4,399,848 7,762,653 4,642,467 1,147,872 6,918,072 24,870,912

DEPRECIATION

At 1 July 2002 134,149 156,924 332,428 124,686 - 748,187

Charge for the period 879,970 1,552,531 1,547,334 229,574 1,976,592 6,186,001

ccccc ccccc ccccc ccccc ccccc cccccAt 30 June 2003 1,014,119 1,709,455 1,879,762 354,260 1,976,592 6,934,188

NET BOOK VALUE

At 30 June 2003 3,385,729 6,053,198 2,762,705 793,612 4,941,480 17,936,724

At 30 June 2002 1,015,699 1,188,139 3,827,039 988,326 13,222,406 20,241,609

* Represents specific identification of furniture of Rs 6,304,334 being transferred from Renovation

(b) Intangibles
2003 2002

COST Rs Rs

Balance transferred from MOBAA - 1,120,260

At 1 July 2,242,484 -

Purchases 971,213 39,295

Computer software development in progress - 1,082,929

ccccc cccccAt 30 June 3,213,697 2,242,484

AMORTISATION

At 1 July 1,159,554 -

Charge for the period 488,117 1,159,554

ccccc cccccAt 30 June 1,647,671 1,159,554

NET BOOK VALUE

At 30 June 1,566,026 1,082,930
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5. NON CURRENT ASSETS

A special fund is being managed by State Insurance Company of Mauritius Ltd. (SICOM) on behalf of the  Commission to
provide for pension of an employee who took early retirement during the previous year in the former MOBAA which has now
been transferred to the Commission. As at 30 June 2003, the balance is Rs 2,395,338 (Previous period: Rs 2,311,948).

2003 2002
Rs Rs Rs

6. DEBTORS AND PREPAYMENTS
Debtors (Unsecured, considered good)

Debtors 30,358,317 15,669,351

Staff loan

Receivable within one year 2,604,918

Receivable beyond one year 9,459,959 12,064,877 10,584,036

Other receivables 10,131,862 10,110,772

Prepayments

Prepayment 364,457 152,602

Accrued interest on Treasury bills 6,118,103 3,367,089

59,037,616 39,883,850

7. BANK & CASH  BALANCES
Cash in hand 2,612 549

Bank Balances 22,701,439 74,583,861

22,704,051 74,584,410

8. GENERAL FUND
Balance transferred from MOBAA - 34,437,179

Balance transferred from SEC - (1,245,423)

At 1 July 160,709,683 -

Prior period adjustment* 1,330,000 -

Surplus for the year 178,533,618 127,517,927

ccccc ccccc340,573,301 160,709,683
Contributions to the Capital Budget 2002-2003 (100,000,000) -

At 30 JUNE 240,573,301 160,709,683

* represents excess provision of pension pertaining to earlier period

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR

01 JULY 2002 TO 30 JUNE 2003
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9. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The pension scheme is a defined benefit plan and is partly funded.
The assets of the funded plan are held independently 
and administered by SICOM.

2003 2002
Rs Rs

Present value of funded obligations 23,890,000 20,960,000

Fair value of plan assets (17,430,000) (15,430,000)

Transferred from SEC - 1,330,000

Unrecognized actuarial gain 270,000 850,000

Liability in the balance sheet 6,730,000 7,710,000

The amount recognized in the Income 
and Expenditure Statement are as follows:

Current Service cost 1,510,000 770,000

Interest cost 2,200,000 1,240,000

Expected return on plan assets (1,791,681) (1,048,959)

ccccc cccccTotal included in staff cost 1,918,319 961,041
ccccc ccccc

Actual return on plan assets 920,000 790,000
ccccc ccccc

Movement in liability recognized in the balance sheet

As determined by the Actuarial Valuation 6,380,000 6,470,000

As taken over from the Stock Exchange Commission 1,330,000

Expense for the year 1,918,319 961,041

Contribution paid (1,568,319) (1,051,041)

At 30 June 6,730,000 7,710,000

The principal actuarial assumptions used 
for accounting purposes were:

Discount Rate 10,50% 10,50%

Expected return on plan assets 11% 11%

Future Salary Increase 5% 5%

Future Pension increase 7,5% 7,5%

10. CREDITORS & PAYABLES
Accruals 3,821,460 3,211,800

Other Creditors 5,865,487 14,316,907

Prepaid Licence Fee 54,889,512 58,318,406

64,576,459 75,847,113
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2003 2002
Rs Rs

11. INTEREST

Treasury Bills 10,129,816 5,002,280

Bank Deposits 627,380 532,535

Staff Loans 435,025 206,156

Non current asset 226,438 136,347

11,418,659 5,877,317

12. GRANT
Grant from the Government of Mauritius - 100,000,000

- 100,000,000

13. SALARIES AND ALLOWANCES
Staff Salaries and Allowances 28,375,016 23,628,805

Passage Benefits 834,282 1,135,575

Board and Committee Fees 1,992,500 2,567,500

Travelling 2,016,256 1,341,197

Staff Welfare 808,251 179,912

** 34,026,305 28,852,989

** Includes fees and allowances paid to Chairman: Rs 480,000, Vice Chairman: Rs 300,000, Members of the Board: Rs 1,120,000, Chief Executive:

Rs 4,683,640 and Deputy Chief Executive: Rs 4,679,674

14. TRAINING AND SEMINARS
Overseas Conferences and Seminars 2,601,870 1,850,052

Staff Training 442,031 375,836

3,043,901 2,225,888

15. OFFICE AND ADMINISTRATIVE 
EXPENSES
Rental & Maintenance of Office Premises 13,317,269 8,816,222

Post, Telephone, Internet and Fax Charges 1,846,818 951,928

Electricity 768,880 690,776

Stationery 918,065 639,145

Subscription 768,905 569,914

General office expenses 3,455,006 671,450

Vehicle Expenses 822,855 190,450

21,897,798 12,529,885

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR
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16. NON RECURRENT EXPENDITURE

Included under Non Recurrent Expenditure is an amount of Rs 100,000, being donation made by the commission to the
Rodrigues Relief Fund 2003.

17. RECONCILIATION OF SURPLUS OF INCOME OVER EXPENDITURE
TO NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2003 2002
Rs Rs

Surplus of Income over Expenditure 178,533,618 127,517,927

Adjustments for:

General Fund transferred from MOBAA - 34,437,179

General Fund transferred from SEC - (1,245,423)

Interest Income (11,418,659) (5,877,317)

Government Grant - (100,000,000)

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 41,063 -

Non Recurrent Expenditure 100,000 24,000,000

Increase in Retirement benefit obligations (980,000) 7,710,000

Depreciation and Amortisation 6,674,118 1,907,741

Prior period adjustment 1,330,000 -

Cash flow from operating activities,
before working capital changes 174,280,140 88,450,107

Increase in Debtors (14,688,966) (15,669,351)

Increase in Staff Loan (1,480,841) (10,584,036)

Increase in Interest Receivale (2,751,014) (3,367,089)

Increase in Other Receivables (21,090) (10,110,772)

Increase in Prepayments (211,855) (152,602)

Decrease in Accrued Expenses and Other Payables (11,270,654) 75,847,113

Net Cash Flow from operating activities 143,855,720 124,413,370
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18. INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM, RISK MANAGEMENT AND 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Commission has taken steps to have an adequate internal control system and risk management policy in place. There
are the Audit Committee, Investment Committee and Technical Committees in place to deal with specific issues. There is
the Code of Conduct for the staff in regard to ethical and operational affairs. The Commission continues to endeavour best
corporate governance practices.

19. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE
The Chairman of the Commission is the Managing Director of the Bank of Mauritius by virtue of Section 4(2)(a) of the Financial
Services Development Act 2001. The Commission maintains its current account with the Bank of Mauritius. The Commission
has purchased Government of Mauritius Treasury Bills of Rs 151,860,060 (previous period Rs 105,615,475) from the Bank of
Mauritius at market quotations.

20. CURRENCY
The financial statements have been presented in Mauritian rupees.
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGYSP E C I A L F E AT U R E PA P E R S



Financial Services Commission Mauritius

THE ROLE OF 

OCCUPATIONAL PENSION FUNDS IN MAURITIUS

DIMITRI VITTAS

Occupational pension funds have a satisfactory record of performance. They face many serious challenges that could
transform their structure and mode of operation. But with the right policies regarding the extent of public provision of
pensions and the creation of robust regulation and effective supervision, their role can be expanded considerably with
beneficial implications for financial sector development and economic growth.

MARCH 2003

The views expressed in this paper are entirely those of the author. They do not reflect the views of the World Bank, its
Executive Directors, or the countries they represent.
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Mauritius belongs to a select group of developing countries where contractual savings (i.e., savings with insurance
companies and pension funds) exceed 40 percent of GDP and represent a major potential force in the local financial
system. Pension funds account for 75 percent of contractual savings.

Contractual savings institutions invest in government securities, housing loans, corporate securities, real estate and bank
deposits. They currently hold 35 percent of government securities and also account for 36 percent of total outstanding
housing loans.

Given their strong demand for long-duration assets, they can stimulate the issue of long-term government bonds (both
inflation-linked and zero-coupon) and the development of corporate debentures, mortgage bonds and mortgage-backed
securities.

Mauritius has a balanced and well-managed multi-pillar pension system. In addition to several public components, such as
the Basic Retirement Pension, the National Pensions Fund, the National Savings Fund, and the Civil Service Pension
Scheme, there are over 1,000 funded occupational pension schemes that play an increasingly important part in the whole
system.

The funded schemes are divided into two main groups: those insured and/or administered by insurance companies; and
those that are self-administered and are registered with the Registrar of Associations.

Coverage of the funded schemes is estimated at about 10 percent of the labor force. Together with the unfunded civil
service scheme, occupational pension schemes cover about 100,000 employees or 20 percent of the labor force.

All types of pension funds, including the public ones, report low operating costs. This reflects the absence of marketing and
selling costs and, in the case of large private pension funds, the assumption of some costs by sponsoring employers.

The investment performance of the self-administered funds was less than fully satisfactory in the late 1990s, reflecting
poor returns on the local and foreign equity markets. Funds insured or administered by insurance companies as well the
NPF performed better during this period because of their heavier allocations in government securities and/or housing loans.
However, over a longer period, the private pension funds probably outperformed the NPF.

The regulatory framework, though fragmented, is not unreasonable. It has many important provisions, such as observance
of internationally acceptable accounting and actuarial standards and minimum vesting and portability rules, and it does not
impose prescribed limits on investments.

However, consolidation and modernization of the regulatory framework is required, while supervision, which is currently
non-existent, needs to be developed and to be proactive.

ABSTRACT
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I. INTRODUCTION

Mauritius, a small island economy in the Indian Ocean off
the coast of Africa, has been remarkably successful in
achieving rapid economic growth in the context of
financial and political stability. It has been able to
overcome unfavorable initial conditions and exposure to
economic sectors that suffered from cyclical and
structural weaknesses. This success has been attributed
to the pursuit of stable macroeconomic policies and the
promotion of sound and efficient institutions. The
importance of the latter in explaining the strong growth
performance of Mauritius has been highlighted in
Subramanian and Roy (2001).
These policies have benefited many sectors of the
economy, including the financial sector. They have
stimulated the growth of banks as well as insurance
companies and pension funds. In the pensions area, they
are underscored by the creation of a well-designed multi-
pillar pension system that comprises several public
components, such as the Basic Retirement Pension, the
National Pensions Fund, the National Savings Fund, and
the Civil Service Pension Scheme, alongside a large
number of occupational pension schemes.
This paper provides an overview of the development and
role of occupational pension schemes in Mauritius. The
main focus is on the funded schemes that have been set
up by private companies and statutory bodies. However, to
provide a broader context of their role and relative
importance, the paper also offers a brief overview of the
contractual savings market and the public provision of
pensions. The various components of public provision are
discussed at greater length in the Annex. The paper draws
extensively on, and also complements, the recently
completed World Bank study (World Bank 2001) and its
background papers (Demarco 2000, Piggott and
Whitehouse 2000, Rofman 2000, and Sin 2000).

The structure of the paper is as follows. Following this
introductory section, section II provides a brief summary of
the contractual savings market. This is followed by section
III that covers the institutional structure of the pension
system, subdivided into non-occupational and
occupational pension schemes. Section IV analyzes the
investment and operating performance of different types
of funds, while section V reviews the regulation and
supervision of pension funds with particular emphasis on
existing gaps and areas requiring strengthening. Section VI
offers a brief evaluation of the performance of company
pension funds against a set of economic criteria and then
reviews their future prospects and main policy issues. The
Annex offers a more detailed discussion of the various
components of public provision of pensions.

II. THE CONTRACTUAL
SAVINGS MARKET

Mauritius belongs to a select group of developing
countries where contractual savings (i.e., savings with
insurance companies and pension funds) exceed 40
percent of GDP and represent a major potential force in
the local financial system. Occupational pension funds,
including those insured and/or administered by insurance
companies, represent 75 percent of contractual savings.
Other developing countries with large contractual savings
sectors include South Africa, Malaysia and Chile alongside
most high income countries and some island economies
like Cyprus and Malta. The vast majority of developing
countries in Africa, Asia and Latin America as well as most
transition countries of Eastern Europe are well below this
level.

Financial Services Commission Mauritius
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Table 1: Assets of Contractual Savings Institutions, 1997-2001

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001
(MUR million)

Registered Pension Funds 1704 2095 2368 2720 2959

Sugar Industry Pension Funds 1180 1750 2005 2500 2196

Insured and Administered** 5502 6460 7210 8120 8904

Total Occupational Pension Funds 8386 10305 11583 13340 14059

NPF 12174 14266 16464 18899 21772

NSF 948 1366 1825 2385 2849

Insurance Companies 14130 16672 19200 21123 23971

Total 35638 42609 49072 55747 62651

Less Double Counting** 5502 6460 7210 8120 8904

Contractual Savings  Assets 30136 36149 41862 47627 53747

(percent of GDP)

Registered Pension Funds 1.93 2.10 2.21 2.30 2.25

Sugar Industry Pension Funds 1.34 1.75 1.87 2.11 1.67

Insured & Administered** 6.23 6.47 6.72 6.85 6.77

Total Occupational Pension Funds 9.50 10.32 10.80 11.26 10.69

NPF 13.78 14.28 15.33 15.95 16.56

NSF 1.07 1.37 1.70 2.01 2.17

Insurance Companies 15.99 16.69 17.88 17.83 18.23

Total 40.34 42.66 45.71 47.05 47.65

Less Double Counting** 6.23 6.47 6.72 6.85 6.77

Contractual Savings  Assets 34.11 36.19 38.99 40.20 40.88

(percent of total assets)

Registered Pension Funds 5.65 5.80 5.66 5.71 5.51

Sugar Industry Pension Funds 3.92 4.84 4.79 5.25 4.09

Insured & Administered** 18.26 17.87 17.22 17.05 16.57

Total Occupational Pension Funds 27.83 28.51 27.67 28.01 26.16

NPF 40.40 39.46 39.33 39.68 40.51

NSF 3.15 3.78 4.36 5.01 5.30

Insurance Companies 46.89 46.12 45.86 44.35 44.60

Total 118.26 117.87 117.22 117.05 116.57

Less Double Counting** 18.26 17.87 17.22 17.05 16.57

Contractual Savings  Assets 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00

* estimates; ** insured and administered pension funds

Source: FSC, NPF, NSF.



Contractual savings amounted to MUR 54 billion in 2001,
equivalent to 41 percent of GDP (Table 1)1. In 2001, the
sector covered the National Pensions Fund, the National
Savings Fund, 22 active insurance companies and 1007
occupational pension funds created by statutory bodies
and private sector companies (of the latter, 37 were self-
administered and registered with the Registrar of
Associations; the remainder were either insured or
administered by insurance companies).

Funded occupational pension funds accounted for 
26 percent of total net assets of contractual savings
institutions, the NPF and NSF together represented 
46 percent of total net assets, while the non-pension
assets of insurance companies accounted for the

remaining 28 percent. Public sector institutions, including
the NPF, NSF and SICOM  were responsible for managing
57 percent of the total, although the operations of SICOM
are no different from those of any private sector manager.

The main types of contractual savings institutions exhibit
significant differences in their asset allocation policies
(Table 2). As a group, contractual savings institutions favor
government securities (mostly two-year treasury bills) and
housing loans. The NPF invests more heavily in
government securities, but is underweight in company
shares and foreign assets. The NPF provides substantial
indirect support to the financing of the housing market,
through its sizable loans to the Mauritius Housing
Corporation.

Pension funds and insurance companies are more heavily
involved in extending direct housing loans and in holding
company shares and foreign assets2. However, there are
large differences in asset allocation policies among

individual pension funds and insurance companies, which
tend to deviate significantly from the average pattern of
their respective sectors.
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Table 2: Asset Allocation of Contractual Savings, 2001

Pension NPF Insurance All
Percent of total assets Funds Companies

Government Securities 21 58 15 35

Non-Government Bonds 3 5 8 6

Company Shares 15 7 17 12

Bank deposits 6 11 9 10

Housing Loans 27 8 23 17

Loans to Sponsors 4 -- -- --

Real Estate 8 2 6 5

Foreign Investment 12 4 9 7

Other 4 5 13 7

Total 100 100 100 100

Source: Estimated on the basis of data collected by the FSC, NPF and Registrar of Associations

1 The report data aggregate statistics of individual pension funds. Most funds have financial years ending in December but several report at the end

of June and some use other months
2 The asset allocation of insurance companies differs from the data published by the FSC. This is because official statistics do not divide clearly the

various types of assets. The figures reported in Table 2 were estimated from a pêrusal of the annual reports of all operating companies. The high

level of “other assets” is worth noting. To some extent, it reflects “loans to shareholders” among the more closely held companies.



Most types of contractual savings institutions benefit from
positive cash flows and their total assets are likely to
continue to grow relative to GDP. This has important
implications for the need to develop robustly regulated
and effectively supervised financial institutions and
markets, but also for the need to increase overseas
investments in order to achieve a more optimal level of
risk diversification. Pension funds and insurance
companies play an active part in the provision of long-
term and fixed-rate housing loans and have in general a
strong demand for long-duration assets. They can
stimulate the issue of long-term government bonds (both
inflation-linked and zero-coupon) and the development of
corporate debentures, mortgage bonds and mortgage-
backed securities.

III. INSTITUTIONAL
STRUCTURE OF PENSION
SYSTEM

The institutions of the Mauritian pension system can be
divided into two separate groups: those that are
occupationally based and those that are based on more
general characteristics. The BRP, NPF and NSF belong to
the second group, whereas the CSPS and the funds
established by statutory bodies and private companies
form the first group. This section summarizes the main
features of the general group and then reviews the
different types of occupational pension schemes.

A. NON-OCCUPATIONAL PENSION SCHEMES

Basic Retirement Pension (BRP)
The BRP is a universal pension that is financed from
general taxes. It is equal to 20 percent of average earnings
and is paid to all people aged over 60 years. Its current
cost is estimated at 3 percent of GDP (2000), but
demographic aging is projected to raise this to 6 percent

by 2020 and 11 percent by 2050 (World Bank 2001). The
government is considering various options for containing
the cost of the BRP. These essentially include raising the
retirement age and introducing means tested benefits (see
the Annex to this paper for more details).

National Pensions Fund (NPF)
The NPF is a compulsory scheme that covers all
employees of private sector firms, except those on very
low wages and some sugar industry employees3. It is a
defined benefit scheme operating on the French point
system. It covers over 300,000 employees or 60 percent
of the labor force. Beneficiaries are still less than 50,000,
resulting in a support ratio of over 6 active contributors
per beneficiary.

Contributions are paid by both employers and employees
and amount respectively to 6 and 3 percent for a total of 9
percent of covered earnings (subject to a ceiling).

Contributions result in the accumulation of points on the
basis of the declared cost of a point at the time of
contribution. Pension benefits depend on the accumulated
points and the declared value of a point at the time of
retirement. The cost and value of points have been set a
ratio of 11 to 1 (implying an annuity conversion factor of
9.09 percent). In a fully-indexed system (or in a world
without inflation and wage growth), a 40-year contributory
career would produce a replacement rate of just below 33
percent of indexed earnings.

Initially, the cost and value of a point lagged inflation by a
significant margin. As a result, the real level of the cost
and value of a point fell to 75 percent of the original level.
However, since 1989 the cost and value of a point have
been adjusted in line with price inflation. Because of this
under-indexation and of the positive real wage growth, the
resulting pensions have been a lower percentage of pre-
retirement earnings than the targeted level of 33 percent.
As a result, the performance of the NPF as a pension
institution has not been fully satisfactory.
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The ceiling on covered earnings was initially set at a very
high level (175 percent of average earnings). However, it
has also been broadly indexed to prices (rather than
wages) and this has resulted in its relative decline over
time (presently it amounts to 80 percent of average
earnings). This has left more scope for the development of
occupational pension schemes. The lower earnings limit
has also fallen in relative terms (from the original 25
percent to about 11.5 percent of average earnings in
2001), thus widening the net of covered workers.

The NPF has accumulated substantial financial resources
equivalent to 17 percent of GDP. These are heavily
invested in government bonds (58 percent) with relatively
small shares in corporate securities and foreign assets.
Asset allocation is not subject to legally imposed limits but
is decided by an Investment Committee, comprising senior
civil servants. The performance of the NPF as a
financial institution has been satisfactory. The real
investment return averaged nearly 4 percent in the 1990s
(and almost 5 percent over the past five years), while its
operating expenses have been on a declining trend. In
2001, they amounted to 9.2 percent of contributions or 48
basis points of average total assets. The NPF’s investment
and operating performance has been superior to that of
the average private sector pension fund during the period
under review4.

This satisfactory performance was marred by the
discovery in February 2003 of a fraud that had been
ongoing for five years and involved a time deposit of MUR
500 million with the Mauritius Commercial Bank (MCB),
the largest and oldest commercial bank in the country. The
details of the scandal are still unraveling at the time of
writing this paper. However, its non-detection for many
years indicates a major deficiency in internal audit and
control systems at both of these nationally important
institutions. The NPF accounts are audited by the Director

of Audits, but usually with a lag of at least two years. This
incident underscores the importance of commissioning
external audits by private international firms as well as the
need to strengthen internal audit and control systems.

The NPF faces two major challenges. First, there is a need
for a greater diversification of its assets in non-
government securities (corporate securities and foreign
assets). Investing a greater proportion of assets in such
securities would require the creation of a more
transparent, professional and independent fund
governance and asset management structure. The second
challenge is to enhance the transparency of its operations,
simplify the link between contributions and benefits, and
improve its performance as a pension institution. The
authorities are considering conversion of the NPF from its
current opaque point system to a defined contribution
system with individual capitalization accounts, crediting of
net investment returns to workers’ accounts and purchase
of a real annuity on retirement (see the Annex for more
details).

National Savings Fund (NSF)
The NSF is a defined-contribution scheme that offers
covered workers a lump sum on retirement. All employees
are required to participate in the NSF, including civil
servants and employees of statutory bodies. The
contribution rate amounts to 2.5 percent of covered
earnings and is paid by employers. The NSF has
accumulated resources equivalent to 2 percent of GDP.
These are heavily invested in government securities. The
NSF does not play a major part either as a pension fund or
as a financial institution. It could be merged into the
activities of a reformed NPF in the future.
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B. OCCUPATIONAL PENSION SCHEMES
Occupational pension schemes cover three main types:
the civil service pension scheme (as well as those
covering local government employees); pension schemes
for various statutory bodies; and pension schemes
established by private sector entities. The latter two types
operate heavily (but not fully) funded schemes that have
accumulated substantial resources, amounting to MUR 
14 billion in 2001 and corresponding to 11 percent of GDP.
However, the scheme covering civil servants is unfunded
and is financed from the budget. Its cost was estimated at
1.3 percent of GDP in 2001.

Approved pension schemes, outside those covering civil
servants and local government employees, increased from
882 in 1998 to 1007 in 2001 (and 1095 in 2002). The
number of self-administered and registered funds rose
from 30 in 1998 to 37 in 2001 (and 42 in 2002). The vast
majority of funds, old as well as new, continues to be
insured and/or administered by insurance companies
(Table 3). Anglo-Mauritius Life Assurance Company
appears to have the lion’s share of group pension
insurance business, facing competition from a small
number of life insurance companies.

However, about 100 pension schemes of statutory bodies
and some 40 private company schemes are administered
(but not insured) by the State Insurance Corporation of
Mauritius (SICOM). In terms of total assets (and perhaps
also membership) these exceed the funds insured and
managed by other insurance companies.

The main self-administered funds include the pension
schemes of the Rogers Group, the Mauritius Commercial
Bank and the New Mauritius Hotels Group as well as some

statutory bodies (e.g., the Central Electricity Board and
from this year the State Bank of Mauritius). Most large
companies establish two pension schemes, catering
separately for clerical and manual staff.

There are no detailed data on the total coverage of
occupational pension schemes and on how many of them
continue to be active. The Civil Service Pension Scheme
has some 50,000 civil servants and the schemes
administered by SICOM have close to 22,000 members.
The three Sugar Industry Pension Funds list 6,000
members, while four large self-administered funds have

over 800 active members each. Thus, all these schemes
collectively have over 80,000 members. It follows that
even on very conservative assumptions, the total coverage
of occupational pension schemes is likely to exceed
100,000 employees or 20 percent of the labor force.

Private sector companies establish their pension schemes
under the Employees Superannuation Fund Act of 1982
(which amended the earlier 1954 Act), while the schemes of
statutory bodies are governed by the Statutory Bodies
Pension Funds Act of 1978. Private schemes are sometimes
established as trusts. The use of trusts is likely to grow,
especially in the offshore sector. Irrespective of legal form,
private pension schemes often outsource several aspects of
their administration even when they are not insured. The
terms and conditions of all schemes must be approved by
the Tax Commissioner in order to be eligible for the
considerable tax benefits. These include deductibility of
contributions without any ceilings and exemption of
investment income from any tax. Pension benefits, but not
commuted lump sums, are subject to income tax.
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Table 3: Number of Approved Occupational Pension Schemes (1998-2002)

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002

Total Number 882 922 967 1007 1095

Registered 30 32 35 37 42

Insured and/or Administered 852 890 932 970 1053

Source: Tax Commissioner and Registrar of Associations



Another important component of the overall system is the
obligation under the Labor Act for most employers to
provide a lump sum retirement gratuity of half a month’s
pay for each year of service. This is not a prefunded
benefit. In the case of many employers it is the only
retirement benefit offered on top of the BRP and NPF.

The Civil Service Pension Scheme (CSPS)
The CSPS covers civil servants and operates on an
unfunded basis. In line with similar schemes in most
countries around the world it has elements that tend to
distort incentives and cause large increases in
expenditures (such as use of the last monthly salary for
calculating pensions, early retirement with generous
benefits, indexation to same rank earnings, and lump-sum
commutation by using a fixed formula, irrespective of life
expectancy and level of interest rates). Because of
progressive aging of the covered population, the cost of
the CSPS is projected to increase from its current level of
20 percent of the total salaries bill to 30 percent in 15
years time and 50 percent by 2050. At that time, benefits
paid could increase from the current level of 1.3 percent of
GDP to between 3 and 3.5 percent. The unfunded accrued
liabilities are estimated at 33 percent of GDP (World Bank
2001).

The CSPS faces several critical policy issues. The first
concerns the establishment of an appropriate basis and
level of funding in order to protect benefits from future
budgetary pressures. The second is a need to harmonize
its terms and conditions with those offered by private
sector entities in order to facilitate labor mobility between
the civil service and the private sector. However, in
addressing these challenges it is important to examine the
whole compensation package of civil servants to ensure
that the civil service continues to be able to attract, train
and retain high caliber staff.

As in many other countries around the world, one feasible
reform option would be to create a defined-contribution
scheme for new recruits to the civil service, while

continuing the defined-benefit scheme for existing civil
servants. A DC scheme would be both funded and fully
portable and would not pose any obstacles to labor
mobility5.

Pension Funds of Statutory Bodies
The pension schemes for the employees of statutory
bodies also are non-contributory and offer similar benefits
to those of the civil service scheme. However, one
fundamental difference is that the pension schemes of
statutory bodies are required, by virtue of the Statutory
Bodies Pension Funds Act of 1978, to create a fund
covering their actuarial liabilities. These funds are
administered by the State Insurance Corporation of
Mauritius (SICOM) but are not insured by it. They are not
therefore included in its balance sheet but are reported in
the notes to its annual report. SICOM administers the
pension funds of 100 statutory bodies covering nearly
13,000 members. (It also manages 38 private sector funds
with nearly 10,000 members.)  The statutory pension
funds have contribution rates ranging from 15 to 25
percent of covered earnings. The market value of the total
assets of the pension funds managed (but not insured) by
SICOM amounted in June 2002 to MUR 6.2 billion.

While most occupational pension schemes are heavily
funded with assets invested outside the sponsoring
employer, the two funds of the Central Electricity Board
(for manual and non-manual workers respectively)
effectively operate on an unfunded basis. This is because
the vast majority of their resources have been lent back to
the CEB. For the two funds together, loans to the CEB
represent 75 percent of total assets and housing loans to
staff another 23 percent. The CEB pension schemes are in
principle contributory schemes, with employees required
to contribute 6 percent of covered earnings. However,
since 1993, the contributions of employees have been
paid by the CEB. The 2 pension funds of the Central
Electricity Board are among a few funds of statutory
bodies that are not managed by SICOM. The financial
situation of the CEB pension funds is currently
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complicated by fact that the CEB is suffering losses, has
accumulated a huge debt, and has plans under study for a
major restructuring.

Private Company Pension Schemes
Most of the nearly 1000 private company pension schemes
are non-contributory and operate as defined-benefit plans
offering pensions equal to two-thirds of final salary on the
last month of employment after 40 years of service (480
months). They are thus somewhat less generous than the
civil service pension scheme or the statutory bodies pension
funds. Moreover, annual pension increases are limited by tax
regulations to no more than 3 percent per year.

Private company pension schemes tend to be
paternalistic, operating on a non-contributory basis and
offering several additional services, including in particular
housing loans. Some funds extend housing loans to
members at low, below-market, rates. However,
sponsoring employers compensate their pension funds for
the rate subsidy.

The high level of benefits of most private company
pension schemes, especially because they involve the
offer of deferred long-term annuities in the face of a
serious dearth of long-term assets, should raise questions
about the continued affordability of these schemes. This
also underscores the importance of effective supervision
to ensure the security of pension assets and the honouring
of the pension rights of workers.

A recent exception to the prevalence of defined benefit
plans is the Rogers Group, which converted its plan into a
money purchase scheme (defined-contribution plan) in
1999. Another 100 small pension schemes, including that
of Mauritius Union, a medium size insurance company,
have also converted to DC plans.

The new Rogers Group pension fund offers a good
example of the continuing paternalistic approach adopted
by sponsoring employers. The Rogers Group covers all

administration costs of the new DC fund. It has also
offered a guarantee to all employees in service at the time
of conversion, such that their pension benefits would be
no lower than what they would have been entitled to had
the conversion not taken place. This guarantee is of course
on maintaining contributions to the scheme. The Rogers
money purchase scheme is contributory and contribution
rates increase with age6.

The conversion of company schemes from DB to DC plans
may represent an early response to the high cost
uncertainties of DB plans. However, DC plans transfer the
investment risk to workers. As they proliferate, there will
be a growing need for developing “protected” investment
products, whereby employees benefit from protection
against downside risk but have less than full participation
in the upside potential. The modalities of “protected “
investments are still evolving around the world. To be
effective they require development of efficient risk-sharing
facilities with specialized financial institutions. DC plans
also require the development of an efficient and robust
annuity market for fulfilling the objective of providing an
adequate and secure pension to retired workers.

IV. INVESTMENT AND
OPERATING PERFORMANCE

The various occupational pension funds appear to adopt
different investment policies and are characterized by
large variations in their asset allocations (Table 4). There
are significant differences between large pension funds
(those with more than MUR 100 million in assets), medium
funds (those with between MUR 30 and 100 million under
management) and small funds (those with less than MUR
30 million in assets). Most funds invest heavily in equities
and also have substantial assets in foreign securities, but
some focus more heavily on housing loans and real estate.
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The Sugar Industry Pension Funds are heavily engaged in
the latter two areas. Apart from the funds administered by
SICOM and some of the smaller self-administered funds,
the large occupational pension funds invest small amounts
in government securities. Rather surprisingly given that
they are managed by large insurance companies, the
insured funds have a small proportion of their assets
invested overseas. The CEB funds are predominantly
invested in loans to the sponsoring employer and housing

loans to members but several smaller funds also have
large exposures to their sponsors. Some of the medium
and small pension funds invest increasingly in mutual
funds, which are classified as other assets in Table 4. The
category “other assets” is relatively large for several
pension funds and insurance companies. In addition to
investments in mutual funds, it also includes “loans to
shareholders”, which are important for some insurance
companies.

Financial Services Commission Mauritius
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Table 4: Asset Allocation of Pension Funds, 2001

Govt NonGvt Comp Bank Hsng Loans Real For Other
Sec Bonds Shares Deps Loans Spons Estate Assets Assets

Large Pension Funds 0.4 0.6 24 9 23 25 6 11 1

Medium Pension Funds 11 17 26 12 8 4 2 13 7

Small Pension Funds 18 6 22 13 0.4 6 1 13 20.6

Total Registered 3 4 24 10 19 20 5 11 4

Sugar Industry 2 9 5 37 32 14 1

SICOM 43 2 11 1 26 2 15

Insured 9 6 20 13 30 6 5 11

Total Occupational 21 3 15 6 27 4 8 12 4

NPF 58 5 7 11 8 2 4 5

Total Pension Funds 43 4 10 9 16 2 4 7 5

Insurance Companies 15 8 17 9 24 6 9 12

NSF 82 3 6 9

Total 34 5 12 9 18 1 5 8 8

Double Counting 32 3 13 5 28 3 12 4

Grand Total 35 6 12 10 17 1 5 7 7

Source: Estimated on the basis of data collected by the FSC, NPF and Registrar of Associations.



Registered pension funds invest small amounts in
government securities. This is especially true for the larger
funds and is attributed to the short maturity of government
debt. Insurance companies hold about 7 percent of
outstanding domestic government debt while the NPF and
NSF account for a combined 28 percent of total domestic
public debt. Thus, the asset allocation of self-administered
funds differs substantially from that of the NPF. In some
respects, this underscores the scope for further asset
diversification by the NPF. However, it is important to note
that many of the equity holdings of occupational pension
funds represent locked-in positions. Some fund managers
complain that the equity market is so illiquid that it moves
against them whether they want to sell or buy.

The pension funds and insurance companies play an
important part in housing finance (Table 5). They account
for 36 percent of the market, a similar share to that of
commercial banks (35 percent) and somewhat larger than

that of the Mauritius Housing Corporation (29 percent).
However, the share of housing loans declined from 30 to
24 percent of the total assets of insurance companies and
pension funds between 1998 and 2001.

Housing loans are attractive to the large self-administered
funds as well as the funds insured or administered by
insurance companies because of their high return, low

default rate and long maturity. Insurance companies and
pension funds lend at fixed rates of interest whereas
commercial banks provide variable rate loans. Developing
markets for mortgage bonds and mortgage securitization
would allow pension funds and insurance companies to
support the housing finance market indirectly and thus
avoid the high expense of mortgage loan origination and
servicing. These markets would also enable commercial
banks to avoid the interest rate risk they currently
assume.

The operating and investment performance of
occupational pension funds has varied considerably over
time (Table 6). Data derived from the annual reports that
self-administered funds submit to the Registrar of
Associations show that over the period 1997-2001
reported operating expenses have been on a rising trend,
relative to both annual contributions and average assets.

To some extent this may reflect a fuller reporting of costs.
Many funds only include out of pocket expenses among
the reported operating costs (for instance, professional
fees for auditors and actuaries and levies paid to the
Registrar). Other costs are incurred directly by the
sponsoring employers. But an increasing number of funds
report most expenses, even if the sponsoring employer
covers the total costs.
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Table 5: Role in Housing Finance, 1998-2001

(percent of total housing loans) 1998 1999 2000 2001

Insurance Companies 28.48 27.23 28.28 29.13

Sugar Industry Pension Funds 4.56 4.51 4.34 4.18

Self-Administered Pension Funds 3.21 3.00 2.97 2.90

All Contractual Savings Institutions 36.25 34.75 35.59 36.22

Commercial Banks 32.37 36.33 35.18 35.21

MHC 31.38 28.92 29.22 28.58

Total 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00

Total (MUR million) 15357 17294 18332 19213

Total (% GDP) 15.37 16.11 15.47 14.61

Source: FSC, Registrar of Associations, MHC, SIPF.
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Table 6: Operating Performance of Registered Pension Funds (1997-2001)

(percent) 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

Operating Expenses/Contributions 3.82 4.81 6.47 7.56 5.86

Operating Expenses/Average Assets 0.53 0.56 0.61 1.06 0.66

Investment Income/Average Assets 8.66 9.09 7.24 9.61 4.71

Benefits/Contributions 42.3 46.0 54.4 46.1 45.3

Benefits/Total Inflows 26.1 25.8 30.3 11.8 31.4

Investment Income/Total Inflows 38.3 43.7 43.0 17.5 29.0

Growth Rate of Total Assets 19.2 22.9 12.6 15.4 7.8

Source: Estimated on the basis of date collected by the FSC and Registrar of Associations.

Table 7: Operating Performance of Occupational Pension Funds, 2001

Oper Exp/ Oper Exp/ Inv Inc/ Inv Inc/ Net Flow/
Contr Aver Assets Aver Assets Tot Inflow Aver Assets

Large Pension Funds 4.24 0.49 4.27 26.5 10.3

Medium Pension Funds 11.40 0.97 5.75 40.1 7.6

Small Pension Funds 12.07 2.15 7.69 29.5 20.9

Total Registered 5.86 0.66 4.71 29.0 10.3

Sugar Industry PF 6.80 0.43 6.92 52.4 5.5

Registered & SIPF 6.14 0.56 5.67 38.0 8.2

NPF 9.22 0.48 11.16 68.3 14.3

Source: Estimated on the basis of data collected by the FSC and the Registrar of Associations.
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Table 8: Comparative Operating and Investment Performance (1997-2001)

(percent) 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 Average*

Operating Expenses

Large Registered Pension Funds 0.39 0.41 0.44 0.97 0.49 0.56

Medium Registered Pension Funds 0.78 0.92 0.96 1.03 0.97 0.97

Small Registered Pension Funds 2.41 1.95 1.96 2.35 2.15 2.13

All Registered Pension Funds 0.53 0.56 0.61 1.06 0.66 0.72

National Pensions Fund 0.77 0.70 0.58 0.53 0.48 0.61

Investment Returns

Large Registered Pension Funds 9.03 9.07 7.13 10.27 4.27 7.93

Medium Registered Pension Funds 6.87 9.23 7.37 7.81 5.75 7.40

Small Registered Pension Funds 9.04 8.72 8.58 8.94 7.69 8.59

All Registered Pension Funds 8.66 9.09 7.24 9.61 4.71 7.85

National Pensions Fund 10.00 14.26 10.57 10.56 11.16 11.30

Insured/Administered Pension Funds 10.88 13.38 10.94 10.21 9.49 10.97

* The average investment return is the compounded average for the five-year period.

All reported rates are weighted averages.

Source: Estimated on the basis of date collected by the FSC, NPF and Registrar of Associations.



In contrast to company pension funds, the operating costs
of the NPF have fallen relative to its contributions and
assets. However, both the NPF and the company funds
report low operating expenses in comparison to the levels
found in Chile and other Latin American countries or to
personal pension plans in the United Kingdom. To a large
extent this is explained by the absence of marketing and
selling costs.

The investment performance of registered funds has
fluctuated considerably over time, reflecting realized (and
in a few cases, unrealized) capital gains and losses. In
general, the investment performance of occupational
pension funds has been inferior to that of the NPF over the
second half of the 1990s (Tables 7 and 8). Although
detailed data covering a longer period are not available, it
is likely that the private pension funds outperformed the
NPF in earlier periods when domestic and foreign equity
market returns were much higher.

The operating and investment performance of
occupational pension funds also varies considerable from
fund to fund (Table 7). Data for 2001 show that large
pension funds report lower operating expenses. This is
explained by the presence of economies of scale.
Nevertheless, the high level of operating expenses of small
funds at over 2 percent of assets is worth noting. In
contrast, small funds seem to earn higher investment
returns, even though all company pension funds
performed badly in 2001, especially relative to the NPF.
The 3 Sugar Industry Pension Funds report better returns
in 2001 than the registered pension funds. This probably
reflects their greater investments in real estate and
housing loans compared to company funds that are more
heavily invested in company shares.

The differences in operating and investment performance
of different types of pension funds over time are shown
clearly in Table 8. Small funds consistently report high
operating costs as well as slightly higher investment
returns. As noted, part of the difference in operating costs
may be explained by under-reporting of costs by large
pension funds. Large employers are more likely than small
employers to absorb various types of operating expenses,
such as rent for premises and the salary cost of fund
administrators and asset managers. On the basis of

collected data, some self-administered funds that
probably outsource the administration and investment
functions to specialist providers tend to report full
operating costs, while others clearly understate operating
costs. In the calculation of these operating cost ratios,
insurance premiums paid for various insurance services
have been excluded as these do not constitute costs
incurred for the administration and investment
management of pension funds.

The good investment and operating performance of the
NPF and of the funds insured and/or administered by
insurance companies should be noted. For the NPF this is
linked to the absence of prescribed investment limits and
the strong performance of government securities in which
the NPF invests more than half of its assets. Operating
performance has clearly benefited from the presence of
considerable economies of scale. The investment
performance of insured funds has also benefited from the
heavy allocation in government securities and housing
loans.

While detailed data on the administration fees charged by
insurance companies are not publicly available, market
practitioners indicate a level of around 70 basis points, at
least for the larger funds. The smaller pension funds are
very likely to be charged higher fees. Insured pension
funds pay death and disability insurance premiums,
administration charges deducted from contributions
before investments are made, and fund management fees.
Comparison with the performance of self-administered
funds would thus be difficult even if full data were
available. Self-administered funds are able to seek better
deals from specialist providers in each of these areas
rather than rely on the same provider for all of them.

V. REGULATION AND
SUPERVISION

Pension fund regulation is currently fragmented among
several laws and tax regulations, while supervision is non-
existent. Occupational pension funds benefit from large
tax incentives and must be approved by the Tax
Commissioner. Self-administered funds must be registered
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with the Registrar of Associations or as trusts, while
insured funds and funds administered by insurance
companies must submit an insurance certificate to the Tax
Commissioner. There are regulations on minimum vesting
and portability provisions, fund governance, and
publication of audited accounts. But pension funds are not
required to hire qualified auditors, to use external
custodians, or to observe limits on self-investing in
sponsoring employers. However, sponsoring employers
must comply with prescribed accounting standards on the
valuation of pension liabilities (IAS 19/MAS 25).

Tax incentives follow the EET regime (Exempt
contributions, Exempt investment income, Tax benefits).
Contributions and investment income are in fact exempt
without any ceiling or limit (except to the extent that
pension benefits cannot exceed two-thirds of pensionable
salary), while pension benefits are taxed, except for the
amount of the pension that is commuted to a lump sum on
retirement. This tax treatment is more generous that that
of most countries with funded occupational pension
schemes. To contain the tax privileges afforded to
retirement saving, most countries limit the deductibility of
contributions both by applying a limit on the contribution
rate and an upper ceiling on eligible earnings (as well as
having a limit on pension benefits). Investment income is
also often subject to a reduced tax rate rather than
benefiting from complete exemption (Davis 1995).
However, the tax attractiveness of retirement saving is
weakened in Mauritius by the low personal income tax
rates and the very wide availability of personal
deductions7.

The main law for pension funds established by private
companies is the Employees Superannuation Fund Act of
1982 (as amended)8. This provides that any employer may
constitute a fund and make contributions for the payment
of pensions and other benefits to directors or employees

and their dependants (section 3). Pension funds must be a
body corporate and be registered with the Registrar of
Associations (section 4). The rules of the fund must
stipulate, inter alia, the rate of contributions paid by the
employer and employees, the rate of accrual and method
of calculation of benefits, the conditions of membership,
the appointment of employer and employee
representatives to the management committee of the
fund, the security to be provided by officers of the fund,
the appointment of auditors, the disclosure of information
on the rules and performance of the fund, and the
dissolution of the fund and disposal of its assets, including
amalgamation with any other fund (section 6 and Second
Schedule of the Act). The fund is managed by a
management committee of no less than 5 persons,
nominated by the employer and the employees (section 7).
However, no parity of representation is required. The Act
specifies that no member of the management committee
shall be liable for any losses unless they have been
caused by willful negligence or fraud (section 8).
Payments to the fund by employers and employees are
irrevocable (section 10). This implies that any surplus over
and above the present value of actuarial liabilities belongs
to the fund, although employers are not prevented from
taking contribution holidays.

Audited accounts must be submitted to the Registrar
within 3 months of the end of each financial year (section
11). The income and expenditure statement and the
balance sheet must be audited by 2 auditors, one
appointed by the employer and the other by the employees
(section 12). However, the Act does not require the hiring
of qualified auditors. The Registrar has broad powers of
inspection and investigation, may cause an inquiry into the
affairs of a fund, and may with the approval of the
President strike off the Register a fund for reasons set out
in its decision (sections 13 and 14). Such Registrar
decisions may be appealed to the Supreme Court. On
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winding up, the assets of the fund are vested in the
Registrar. They are first used to discharge all third party
debts and liabilities and are then applied to the payment of
the present value, as determined by an actuary, of the
amounts due to pensioners and then to the accrued
benefits of employees in active service (section 15). A fee
is payable by each fund to the Registrar of Associations to
meet its expenses (section 16). This amounts to 0.25
percent of the investment income of each fund.

The Income Tax Regulations 1996 (as amended) stipulate
that pension schemes must be approved by the Tax
Commissioner, who requires either an insurance
certificate or registration with the Registrar of Associations
(section 5(1)(b)(ii)). The Tax Commissioner must, inter alia,
be satisfied that: employee contributions are reasonable;
all members are treated equally; annual pension benefits,
excluding NPF pensions, do not exceed two-thirds of final
pensionable emoluments (section 5(2)(c)(vi)); commuted
lump-sum payments do not exceed 12.5 times the amount
commuted which, in turn, does not exceed 25 percent of
the annual pension due (section 5(2)(c)(vii)); permanent
disability and death benefits do not exceed twice final
pensionable emoluments; dependent pensions do not
exceed specified limits; eligibility and withdrawal
provisions are reasonable; powers of investment of fund
assets are reasonable; annual pension increases do not
exceed same rank salary increases or 3 percent of the
preceding year’s pension; employees leaving after 5 years’
service are entitled to preserve their accrued benefits in
the fund of the old employer, or transfer the actuarial value
of these benefits to the pension fund of their new
employer, or transfer this value to an approved personal
pension scheme (section 5(2)(c)(xvii)); and, employees
leaving before completing five years’ service are entitled
to a refund of their accumulated contributions, provided
that the related actuarial value of the accrued retirement
benefits from a previous employment has not been
transferred to the superannuation fund established by the
new employer9.

The regulatory framework is obviously very extensive.
However, it has some important gaps. There are no explicit
requirements: for maintaining a proper funding level to
secure scheme benefits; for ensuring the safe custody of
assets; for hiring qualified actuaries, auditors and
custodians; for imposing on actuaries, auditors and
custodians the responsibility to inform the supervisory
authority of any material breaches of regulations; or for
submitting regular reports to the supervisory authority10.

There are also no rules on investments and asset
diversification. While the absence of minimum investment
rules and the investment freedom enjoyed by fund
managers mark a welcome departure from prevailing
practice in most developing countries, failure to impose
limits on self-investing in sponsoring employers and to
require reasonable asset diversification may place pension
fund assets at unnecessary risk.

Neither the Employees Superannuation Fund Act nor the
Income Tax Regulations specify that pension funds must
undertake periodic actuarial reviews. Sponsoring
employers who must publish audited accounts are
required to comply with the revised international
accounting standard on pension liabilities (IAS19, adopted
in Mauritius as MAS25). IAS19 specifies, inter alia, the AA
corporate bond yields (or similar) as the discount rates to
be used in valuing actuarial liabilities and requires
employers to report in their accounts any shortfall in the
pension fund they sponsor. Although there is no systematic
monitoring of the shortfall situation of pension funds in
Mauritius, it is estimated that on average pension
schemes suffer from a 20 to 25 percent shortfall. Actuarial
reviews are undertaken at regular intervals, mostly every
3 years. Local actuaries use investment return
assumptions that are close to, or slightly higher than,
projected rates of salary growth. Mortality tables are
selected from the set that is produced by the UK Institute
of Actuaries.

Financial Services Commission Mauritius

113A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 3

9 The wording of this provision which was added in August 2000 is not clear. It appears to be stipulating that leaving employees who transferred

the actuarial value of accrued benefits from a previous employment have the same portability rights as employees with more than 5 years of

service.
10 As argued further below, financial reports should be submitted in electronic form, preferably on a quarterly basis. The FSC should develop a

capability for efficient analysis of financial reports and off-site surveillance.



Pension funds with defined-benefit plans operate with a
large duration mismatch of their assets and liabilities,
since there is a shortage of long-term assets, other than
equities and real estate. At present, this mismatch does
not cause problems because interest rates on short-term
instruments are high. But pension funds face a large
reinvestment risk. They could find themselves in a
situation of huge shortfalls as a result of a large and
persistent fall in interest rates. Actuaries should be
required to report on the exposure of pension funds to
such an occurrence, however unlikely it may seem at
present, in order to facilitate early preventive action.

There is clearly a strong need for a new comprehensive
pension fund act to consolidate and modernize the
regulatory framework. Modernization of regulation should
cover: clear designation of a supervisory authority; fund
governance; appropriate funding levels; vesting and
portability standards; asset segregation and safe custody;
asset valuation and diversification (including low limits on
investing in their sponsors); actuarial, accounting and
auditing standards (including the responsibilities of
actuaries, auditors, compliance officers and custodians to
report material breaches of regulations to the supervisory
authority); financial reporting (through frequent
submission of data in electronic form), disclosure and
transparency; off-site surveillance and on-site inspection
by the supervisors; and powers of intervention and
remedial action (Vittas 1998).

A major shortcoming is the complete absence of any
supervision. Most countries that have a large number of
occupational pension schemes suffer from inadequate
supervision that tends to be passive and reactive rather
than proactive with the authorities responding to problems
and abuses on an ad hoc basis. The usually large number
of company pension funds makes proactive supervision
more difficult to implement. Although there have been no
reports of major scandal, the lack of supervision is a
source of concern.

Pension funds should be supervised by the FSC. The FSC
should be required to collect comprehensive data on a
quarterly basis and publish periodic data on the
performance of the sector and an annual report with a
more comprehensive analysis of trends, achievements and

challenges. The FSC should cooperate with auditors,
actuaries and custodians to ensure that pension schemes
are adequately funded and their assets are properly
diversified and valued.

Proactive supervision needs to be promoted. It should
include sophisticated off-site surveillance based on
quarterly electronic financial reporting, use of an early
warning system and, in the case of defined benefit plans,
application of dynamic solvency testing. The regulator
should be empowered to challenge and even vet the
actuarial assumptions used by actuaries, such as discount
rates and mortality tables, in calculating the present value
of pension liabilities and the adequacy of funding levels.

Proactive supervision should also involve adoption of
effective on-site inspection programs, focusing on the
adequacy of fund governance, internal controls and risk
management systems. Auditors, actuaries, custodians and
compliance officers should all be required to report to the
regulator any material breaches of regulations,
irregularities in financial accounts and instances of
misconduct that come to their attention. The authorities
should also develop efficient crisis response policies to
ensure that corrective measures are taken early to prevent
failures that might cause large losses to participating
workers.

In strengthening the regulation and supervision of pension
funds, care should be taken to avoid any disruption to the
good overall performance of the larger schemes. Proactive
supervision should not be accompanied by the imposition
of intrusive investment limits. While clear limits should be
imposed on self-investment, no attempt should, otherwise,
be made to direct the asset allocation of pension funds.
Pension funds should be expected to adopt a “prudent
expert” approach and hold diversified investment
portfolios. When the NPF is converted to a DC scheme and
merged with the NSF, the financial aspects of its operations
should also come under the supervision of the FSC.

114 A N N U A L R E P O R T 2 0 0 3



VI. FUTURE PROSPECTS AND
POLICY ISSUES

Before discussing the future prospects and main policy
issues of occupational pension funds it would be useful to
evaluate their structure and performance against a set of
economic criteria, such as coverage, affordability, security,
investment performance, operating efficiency and
transparency.

Employer-sponsored pension funds, especially those
based on defined benefit plans, have several advantages
and disadvantages compared to other forms of pension
provision. At one level, they have the ability to overcome
the shortcomings of underdeveloped financial and
insurance markets by pooling the mortality risks of their
employees and avoiding the adverse selection problems
that bedevil annuity markets. At another level, they offer
the potential of professional investment management with
a better risk/return profile and lower transaction costs
than non-employer-based schemes that incur high
marketing and administrative costs. In countries with
underdeveloped financial and insurance markets,
employer-based schemes are well placed to provide
retirement income insurance to their workforce 
(Bodie 1990).

But employer-based schemes also suffer from several
disadvantages. They are notoriously less transparent than
the pension accounts offered by specialized pension
institutions11. They often impose vesting and portability
restrictions that penalize early leavers12. They rely on the
solvency and integrity of sponsoring employers. The
security of worker benefits depends on the creation of a
segregated pension fund, maintenance of an adequate
funding level and a well-diversified portfolio as well as
proper valuation and safe custody of assets. This implies
the existence of robust regulation and effective

supervision. Because of the cost and complexity of
administration, employer-based funds tend to be
established by large employers with a stable and skilled
labour force. Tax incentives support the creation of
pension funds, although these are also available to other
forms of retirement saving.

A major shortcoming is that employer-sponsored schemes
are often seen as an extension of corporate financial and
personnel management functions. In this sense, they do
not meet the primary objective of pension funds which is
to provide retirement benefits to covered workers.
Employers almost invariably retain the right to terminate
pension plans and often change terms and conditions to
suit their requirements, paying secondary regard to the
needs of their workers. Nevertheless, and despite these
shortcomings, properly regulated employer-based pension
funds still have a major role to play in pension provision,
especially in countries where financial and insurance
markets are underdeveloped.

How do Mauritian company pension funds rate with regard
to these considerations? They provide deferred long-term
annuities to covered workers on terms and conditions that
most likely are more attractive than those available in the
local annuity market. They seem to operate with relatively
low operating costs, except for the smaller funds that
suffer from high expense ratios. This is in line with
international experience. Their investment performance
has not been fully satisfactory in the 1990s, probably
reflecting the poor returns of the local and foreign equity
markets.

The security of retirement benefits has improved in recent
years. Vesting and portability rights have been
strengthened and now look reasonable, providing better
protection to early leavers. Accounting and actuarial
standards require an adequate level of funding and a
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reporting of shortfalls. However, funding levels are not
monitored closely and are estimated to suffer from a 20 to
25 percent shortfall. Actuarial assumptions look sensible
and realistic at present but increasing longevity and the
reinvestment risk faced by pension funds because of the
large duration mismatch of their assets and liabilities
suggest potential difficulties in the future. If investment
returns were to fall and stay at low levels for a prolonged
period, large increases in contributions would be required
to maintain appropriate funding levels.

The regulatory framework is extensive and covers many
aspects that are important for enhancing the security of
retirement benefits. However, some important elements
are missing. These include the need for safe custody of
assets and for adequate asset diversification, especially
imposing limits on self-investment in sponsoring
employers. Supervision and transparency require
considerable strengthening (Vittas 1998).

In terms of coverage, funded occupational pension
schemes cover about 10 percent of the labour force in
Mauritius. Adding the unfunded civil service pension
scheme brings the total to 20 percent. This is low by
comparison to levels prevailing in leading high-income
countries, such as Australia, Denmark, the Netherlands,
Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United
States where coverage exceeds 70 percent and reaches
beyond 90 percent of the labour force (World Bank 1994).
But taking into account the offer of the universal BRP and
the operation of the NPF as well as the structure of the
local labour market the current level of coverage looks
reasonable.

Long-term affordability is a different story. The promised
benefits, which usually are not integrated with the BRP
(although a large proportion are integrated with the NPF),
result in high replacement rates at relatively young ages.
The growing longevity of the population, which is likely
more pronounced among high-income people, implies a
continuing increase in cost. The recent trend toward DC
schemes is likely to accelerate if companies are
constrained by growing competition in their product

markets from increasing employer contributions to the
levels that would be required to maintain the financial
soundness of their schemes. The comparative advantage
of employer-based DC schemes would then depend on
their ability to achieve high investment returns with low
operating costs and offer attractive but non-guaranteed
annuity options at retirement. As in most countries, this is
likely to be accompanied by a growing demand for
protected investment products.

The future role of occupational pension funds in the
Mauritian multi-pillar pension system will also be shaped
by decisions regarding the continued affordability of the
BRP and especially the restructuring of the operations of
the NPF.

For instance, a gradual increase in the normal entitlement
age for the BRP coupled with an application of some
means testing would not only ensure its long-term
affordability but would also argue for converting the NPF
into a DC scheme, merging it with the NSF, and introducing
greater competition with well-run and transparent private
pension funds. The latter would be achieved by allowing
employers who sponsor such private pension funds to
contract out of the NPF13. An even greater degree of
competition and individual choice would be encouraged by
granting workers the right to choose between the NPF and
the pension fund established by their employer.

These measures of reform would ensure that the NPF
continues to operate efficiently and does not end up by
dominating the local financial system. They would also
strengthen the multi-pillar structure of the Mauritian
pension system. Their success would require, however, a
considerable strengthening of the regulatory framework of
occupational pension funds and especially implementation
of an effective system of proactive supervision. With better
regulation and supervision, workers would enjoy greater
choice and stronger protection of their pension savings,
while the financial system would benefit from greater
plurality among institutional investors, intensified
competition and expanded innovation.
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Pluralistic pension funds can have a major impact on the
development of the financial system and the financing of
the economy. They can stimulate the development of the
long-term government bond market (including inflation
protected securities and zero coupon bonds) as well as the
growth of company debentures, mortgage bonds and
asset-backed securities. They can also increase the
liquidity and efficiency of equity markets. Realization of
these benefits requires effective regulation and
supervision of both primary and secondary securities
markets.

Experience from the United States and other high-income
countries suggests that they can play an important part in
“symbiotic” finance, acting as a countervailing force to the
dominant position of commercial banks, supporting the
financing of independent leasing, factoring and venture
capital companies, and promoting alternative sources of
financing expanding SMEs. The promotion of these other
markets would require the removal of regulatory and tax
obstacles and the creation of a robust and effective
framework of financial regulation and supervision.

Mauritian pension funds (and other institutional investors,
such as insurance companies) have a huge demand for
long-term assets. At present, they are forced to engage in
a significant amount of reverse maturity transformation,
investing a large part of their long-term funds in short-
term treasury bills as well as medium term bonds and
bank deposits. Their long-term assets include corporate

equities, real estate and housing loans. Corporate equities
are illiquid and volatile, while real estate has performed
well over the long run but is also illiquid and often
produces low yields. Housing loans have for the most part
performed well, although it would be more efficient for
pension funds to invest in mortgage bonds and mortgage-
backed securities rather than engage in the origination
and servicing of housing loans.

A fuller appreciation of their investment needs and of their
potential for stimulating financial innovation would
promote the development of efficient and liquid markets
for all kinds of long-term securities. A simplification of the
complicated system of taxation of financial institutions
and instruments and greater boldness on the part of both
issuers and investors would accelerate the process of
development.

Occupational pension funds in Mauritius have a
satisfactory record of performance. They face many
serious challenges that could transform their structure and
mode of operation. But with the right policies regarding
the extent of public provision of pensions and the creation
of robust regulation and effective supervision, their role
can be expanded considerably with beneficial implications
for financial sector development and economic growth.
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The public sector in Mauritius plays an important part in
the direct provision of pensions. It offers a universal basic
retirement pension to all elderly residents. This is financed
from general tax revenues. It operates two compulsory
schemes, the National Pensions Fund that covers most
private sector employees, and the National Savings Fund
that covers most private and public sector employees
(including civil servants). Both of these schemes
accumulate long-term funds through regular contributions
by employers and employees. And it operates the Civil
Service Pension Scheme, an unfunded scheme that is
financed from general tax revenues as part of the
government budget.

BASIC RETIREMENT PENSION
(BRP)

The BRP is a universal pension paid to all people aged
over 60 years and financed from general taxes. Introduced
in 1951, the BRP amounts to 20% of the average wage.
The benefit increases to 75% of the average wage for
those between 90 and 100 years of age and to 85% for
those over 100. This pillar reaches all poor households and
its cost currently amounts to 3.1% of GDP (2000). But in
view of rapid demographic aging, the cost of an
unchanged BRP is projected by a recently completed
World Bank report to reach 5.9% of GDP by 2020 and
10.9% by 2050 (World Bank 2001).

The government is considering various options for
containing the cost of this scheme. These essentially
include raising the retirement age and introducing means
tested benefits. Two variants of the means test are under
consideration:

• a subsistence (or poverty) test that would include in the
BRP only those people with incomes or wealth below
specified levels; or 

• an affluence test that would exclude from the BRP those
people with income or wealth above specified levels.

Special emphasis is also placed on developing an efficient
way of administering the means test in order to both keep
its costs down and improve its targeting effectiveness.

According to estimates contained in the recently
completed World Bank report, applying an affluence test
with an increase in the retirement age to 65 would contain
the projected cost to 3.2 percent of GDP by 2020 and 4.5
percent by 2050. A combination of the two tests, with
gradual benefit clawbacks, is also under consideration.

NATIONAL PENSIONS FUND
(NPF)

The NPF is a contributory compulsory pillar that covers
employees of private sector firms. It was introduced in
1978 and is a defined benefit scheme operating on the
French point system. Almost all private-sector employees
are required to participate in the NPF. Exceptions include
very low-paid workers and those sugar-industry workers
who, when the NPF was introduced, elected to remain
within the already established Sugar Industry Pension
Funds (SIPF). Civil servants and employees of local-
government and statutory bodies are also exempt.
Membership of the NPF stood in 2001 at 301,000 out of a
total workforce of a little over 500,000. Beneficiaries are
still less than 50,000, resulting in a support ratio of over 6
active contributors per beneficiary. This is very much in
line with the overall demographic support ratio (Table A1).
However, because of aging, the support ratio is projected
to fall to 2.5 by 2040. In 2000, there were a total of
454,000 people that had accumulated points in the
system. This underscores the fact that the ratio of active
contributors to affiliated workers is not a good indicator of
effective coverage.

Contributions are paid by both employers and employees
and amount respectively to 6 and 3 percent for a total of 9
percent of covered earnings (for the sugar industry,
contributions amount to 13.5 percent, 9 percent paid by
employers and 4.5 percent by employees). Contributions
are assessed on earnings once they exceed a Lower
Earnings Limit but subject to an Upper Earnings Limit. The
LEL and UEL are adjusted every other year.

ANNEX

PUBLIC PROVISION OF PENSIONS
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Contributions result in the accumulation of points on the
basis of the declared cost of a point at the time of
contribution, while pension benefits depend on the
accumulated points and the declared value of a point at the
time of retirement. The cost and value of points have been
set a ratio of close to 11 to 1, implying an annuity
conversion factor of 9.09 percent (Table A2). The ratio was
initially set at 10.8 to 1 and may have been influenced by
the life expectancy at retirement that was probably close to
11 years in 1978 when the NPF was introduced. The ratio
was increased above 11 in the early 1980s and reached
12.45 in 1982 but has been kept close to 11 since 1984.

In a world with no inflation and wage growth, contributions
at 9 percent per year for 40 years would accumulate total
balances equal to 360 percent of covered annual earnings.

At a conversion factor of 9.09 percent, these would
produce a pension equal to just below 33 percent of
covered pre-retirement earnings.

Initially, the cost and value of a point lagged inflation by a
significant margin (Table A3). As a result, the real level of
the cost and value of a point fell to 75 percent of the original
level. However, since 1989 the cost and value of a point
have been adjusted in line with price inflation. The lower
and upper earnings ceilings and the value of pensions in
payment have also been adjusted in line with price inflation
(see paragraphs 1.6, 2.4 and 5.5 of the last actuarial review
of the NPF completed by the GAD in December 2001).
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Table A1: Participating Employers, Employees and Beneficiaries of the NPF (end June)

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

Employers 15,100 15,200 15,400 15,400 15,100

Employees 242,000 265,000 287,000 301,000 301,000

Beneficiaries 37,945 40,201 43,031 45,719 48,035

Support Ratio 6.38 6.59 6.67 6.58 6.27

Source: NPF

Table A2: Operating Features of NPF

(Contributions, Benefits, Cost and Value of Points, Lower and Upper Earnings Limits)
1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

Contributions (MUR mn) 774 846 893 984 1055

Contributions (% GDP) 0.88 0.85 0.83 0.83 0.80

Benefits (MUR mn) 175 214 245 282 315

Benefits (% GDP) 0.20 0.21 0.23 0.24 0.24

Lower Earnings Limit (MUR) 612 699 699 800 800

Upper Earnings Limit (MUR) 4,625 5,100 5,100 5,535 5,535

Cost of Point (MUR) 43.72 46.54 50.10 52.66

Value of Point (MUR) 3.99 4.23 4.55 4.80

Ratio of Cost to Value 11.0 11.0 11.0 11.0

Source: NPF
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Table A3: Evolution of the Cost and Value of Points, 1978-2000

Year Inflation Inflation Cost CoP Value VoP CoP VoP CoP/
Index of Point Index of Point Index UnderInd UnderInd VoP

1978-79 10.80 1.00 10.80

1979-80 33.0% 1.3300 12.53 1.1602 1.10 1.1000 0.8723 0.8271 11.39

1980-81 26.5% 1.6825 13.91 1.2880 1.16 1.1600 0.7655 0.6895 11.99

1981-82 13.4% 1.9079 16.06 1.4870 1.29 1.2900 0.7794 0.6761 12.45

1982-83 7.5% 2.0510 17.35 1.6065 1.49 1.4900 0.7833 0.7265 11.64

1983-84 5.6% 2.1658 17.70 1.6389 1.61 1.6100 0.7567 0.7434 10.99

1984-85 8.3% 2.3456 18.15 1.6806 1.64 1.6400 0.7165 0.6992 11.07

1985-86 4.3% 2.4465 18.69 1.7306 1.68 1.6800 0.7074 0.6867 11.13

1986-87 0.7% 2.4636 19.25 1.7824 1.73 1.7300 0.7235 0.7022 11.13

1987-88 1.5% 2.5006 21.18 1.9611 1.96 1.9600 0.7843 0.7838 10.81

1988-89 16.0% 2.9006 23.76 2.2000 2.16 2.1600 0.7585 0.7447 11.00

1989-90 10.7% 3.2110 26.18 2.4241 2.38 2.3800 0.7549 0.7412 11.00

1990-91 12.8% 3.6220 28.80 2.6667 2.62 2.6200 0.7362 0.7234 10.99

1991-92 2.9% 3.7271 30.24 2.8000 2.75 2.7500 0.7513 0.7378 11.00

1992-93 8.9% 4.0588 32.96 3.0519 3.00 3.0000 0.7519 0.7391 10.99

1993-94 9.4% 4.4403 36.09 3.3417 3.29 3.2900 0.7526 0.7409 10.97

1994-95 6.1% 4.7111 38.33 3.5491 3.49 3.4900 0.7533 0.7408 10.98

1995-96 5.8% 4.9844 40.48 3.7481 3.69 3.6900 0.7520 0.7403 10.97

1996-97 7.9% 5.3782 43.72 4.0481 3.99 3.9900 0.7527 0.7419 10.96

1997-98 5.4% 5.6686 46.34 4.2907 4.23 4.2300 0.7569 0.7462 10.96

1998-99 7.9% 6.1164 50.10 4.6389 4.55 4.5500 0.7584 0.7439 11.01

1999-00 5.3% 6.4406 52.66 4.8759 4.80 4.8000 0.7571 0.7453 10.97

Source: NPF



But with positive real wage growth, the resulting pensions
have been a lower percentage of pre-retirement earnings.
The above mentioned World Bank report estimated that
the replacement rate of full-career average-wage workers
amounted to only 26 percent in 1998/99. In a fully mature
system and on a continuation of past indexation practice,
the replacement rate would fall to 12.5 percent14.

The ceiling on covered earnings, the Upper Earnings Limit,
was initially set at a very high level (175 percent of average
earnings). However, its level has been allowed to fall over
time and presently it amounts to 80 percent of average
earnings. This has left more scope for the development of
occupational pension schemes. It can be argued that the
original level of the ceiling was unduly high and that failure
to index it has resulted in an economically more
appropriate level. In fact, the level of the ceiling should be
kept relatively low, no more than 120 percent of average
earnings, if occupational pension schemes are to be
encouraged to play a more active part in the Mauritian
pension system. Alternatively, the ceiling on contributions
and benefits could be reset at its original level, but
employers operating approved occupational pension
schemes could be allowed to contract out of the NPF.

The Lower Earnings Limit has also fallen over time in
relative terms from its original level of 25 percent of
average earnings to about 11.5 percent in 2001. This fall
has widened the number of covered workers. However, in
the presence of the BRP, it is arguably an unwelcome
development since it may be forcing low-income people to
over-save and have pension income in retirement that
exceeds their income in active life. It is also raising the
cost of hiring unskilled workers and may thus contribute to

the rise in unemployment. A policy of maintaining constant
the relative level of the lower and upper earnings limits
would be advisable15.

The NPF has been established under the National Pensions
Act and is administered by the Minister of Social Security,
who also appoints a 13-member National Pensions Board,
which has an advisory role on all policy issues relating to
national pensions. Eight  NPB members represent
employers and employees, equally divided between the
sugar and non-sugar sectors, while five represent the
Ministries of Finance, Health, Labor and Social Security
(2). The private sector appointments are made on terms
and conditions determined by the Minister. The NPF is
required to undertake an actuarial valuation at intervals of
not more than five years and to publish audited annual
accounts. The last actuarial review was conducted by the
Government Actuary’s Department (GAD) of the United
Kingdom in 2001 (GAD 2001a).

There are no legally imposed investment limits on the
assets of the NPF, but a 9-member Investment Committee,
comprising for the most part senior civil servants, sets the
investment objectives and guidelines of the NPF, including
limits on investments. The Investment Committee includes
among its membership a trade union and an employer
representative, but its majority consists of ministerial
representatives. A member of the NPB is represented on
the Investment Committee and may transmit advice from
the Board. However, the Investment Committee has
ultimate authority and responsibility for the determination
of investment policy and the investment process.
Currently, the following limits are applied (Table A4).
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14 Under the provisions of the NPF scheme, the pension points of members who were over age 40 in 1978 (and so retired before 1998) were

doubled, while for members who were aged between 20 and 40 in 1978 (and thus due to retire over the 20 years from 1998) their pension points

are increased on a pro-rata basis as if they have been contributing for 40 years. It can be argued that failure to implement full wage indexation has

enabled the NPF to finance the doubling of benefits to the first generation of workers. However, this has adverse implications for the replacement

rates of the subsequent generations.
15 Switzerland applies a lower and upper earnings limit in connection with its compulsory second pillar. These limits were initially set at the more

reasonable levels of 40 and 120 percent of average earnings (when the second pillar was introduced in 1985) and they have been held constant

relative to average earnings since then (Queisser and Vittas 2000). Switzerland has also applied a minimum conversion annuity factor of 7.2

percent in its compulsory second pillar, aiming for a replacement rate of 36 percent. It was recently forced to lower the conversion annuity factor

to 6.8 percent, because of lower investment returns and increased longevity.



As it can be seen, the investment limits are eminently
reasonable. Unlike so many other developing countries,
there are no minimum investment requirements in
government securities or any other assets, while the limits
on international investments are reasonably high.
However, there are no upper limits on holdings of treasury
bills and as shown by the data in the preceding table,
actual asset allocations deviate considerably from the
levels that would be compatible with optimal risk
diversification. The NPF, like other public sector
institutions, is a major investor in large state-owned
companies (such as the SBM, SICOM, and Mauritius
Telecom) as well as the numerous state investment funds.

The NPF has accumulated significant financial resources.
These amounted to MUR 21.8 billion in June 2001,
corresponding to 17 percent of GDP. NPF assets grew by
an average annual compound rate of over 15 percent
between June 1996 and June 2001. NPF assets have been
invested prudently and have generated a reasonably high
and stable real rate of return. However, the efficiency of
asset management could be further enhanced by judicious
diversification in company shares and foreign assets.
Government securities, including all types of bonds and
treasury bills, absorbed 58 percent of total assets in 2001,
up from 49 percent in 1997 (Table A5).

In contrast, foreign assets fell from 13 percent in 1998 to
4 percent in 2001. It is not clear what prompted the
relatively large fall in the holdings of foreign assets. Some
market sources suggest that it was linked to a decline in
official reserves and a request to the NPF to repatriate
some of its foreign assets. This would imply a less than
arm’s length relationship between the government and the
asset management of the NPF. Investment performance
did benefit, however, from the fortuitous fall in the share of
foreign assets since the NPF has avoided the large losses
suffered by foreign stock markets in recent years.

Holdings of treasury bills have increased significantly in
recent years. These tend to have a two-year term, but
even so their growth implies a rise in reverse maturity
transformation: the long-term resources of the NPF are
invested in relatively short-term assets.
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Table A4: Investment Limits of the NPF

Type of Asset Percent of Assets

Government stocks (bonds) 50

Treasury bills 100

Housing sector loans 20

Loans to Mauritius Housing Corporation 15*

Loans to Development Bank of Mauritius 15

Loans to local authorities, per case MUR 25 million

Loans to other organisations 10

Investments in the Stock Exchange of Mauritius 10

International investments 25

*  included in overall housing loan limit

Source: NPF
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The operating performance of the NPF is reasonably
efficient, with low operating costs and high investment
returns (Table A6). Total operating expenses, which include
all administrative expenses plus depreciation allowances
and provisions for bad debts and cover all the operations
of the NPF including those relating to the administration of
the BRP, have been on a declining trend. In 2001, they

amounted to 9.2 percent of contributions or 48 basis
points of average total assets. This performance is
superior to that of the average private sector pension fund
for that year.
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Table A5: Asset Allocation of National Pensions Fund (end June)

Percent of total assets 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

Fixed Assets 4.4 3.7 3.1 2.7 2.1

Government Securities (Market Value) 32.7 32.1 26.3 25.1 26.4

Independence & Republic Bonds 9.8 8.4 7.2 5.3

Treasury Bills 6.7 10.0 25.3 23.5 32.0

All Government Securities 49.2 50.5 58.8 53.9 58.4

Listed shares 4.1 3.1 2.8 2.7 3.4

Unlisted shares 5.7 4.9 4.5 3.9 3.4

Listed debentures 0.2 5.4 4.8 4.2 0.3

Bank deposits 8.8 6.0 8.1 9.9 11.0

Foreign Investment 11.4 13.3 5.0 4.6 4.4

Loans (Various Institutions) 3.7 3.1 2.7 4.6 4.9

Loans (M.H.C) 9.4 7.5 6.0 7.6 7.7

Current Assets 3.2 2.7 4.1 5.9 4.5

Total Assets 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

Total Assets (MUR million) 12,174 14,266 16,464 18,899 21,771

Total Assets (% of GDP) 13.78 14.28 15.33 15.95 16.56

Source: NPF

Table A6: Operating Performance of NPF (year ending in June)

(percent) 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

Operating Expenses/Contributions 11.42 11.20 10.05 11.52 9.22

Operating Expenses/Average Assets 0.79 0.72 0.58 0.64 0.48

Investment Income/Average Assets 10.00 14.26 10.57 10.56 11.16

Benefits/Contributions 22.6 25.2 27.5 28.7 29.8

Benefits/Total Inflows 9.2 7.8 9.8 9.9 9.5

Investment Income/Total Inflows 59.1 69.0 64.5 65.5 68.3

Growth Rate of Total Assets 19.1 17.2 15.4 14.8 15.2

Source: Estimated on the basis of NPF data.
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The NPF reports relatively small contribution arrears. These
amount to less than 0.25 percent of average assets. In
2000, there was a large provision for bad debts of the order
of 2 percent of contributions or 0.11 percent of assets but
in most other years such provisions are very low, absorbing
less than 0.01 percent of assets. In conjunction with a
system support ratio of contributors to pensioners that is
close to that of the population as a whole, this implies an
effectively operated system with little evasion.

Investment income, which probably excludes unrealized
capital gains, fluctuated between 10 and 14.3 percent in
the period between fiscal year 1997 and fiscal year 2001,
averaging 11.3 percent. This compares with an average
inflation rate of 6.2 percent over the same period, implying
a real rate of return of 4.8 percent. Investment income
represents a growing share of total inflows, amounting to
68 percent in 2001. This is a reflection of the growing size
of total assets. Benefits absorb an increasing share of
contributions, having reached nearly 30 percent in 2001,
but at less than 10 percent they are low as a share of total
inflows.

The investment performance of the NPF has been analyzed
in the recent actuarial review that was conducted by GAD.
Table A7, which is extracted from this review, shows the
average nominal investment return of the NPF to have
amounted to 11.3 percent over the 1990s. Except for
1998, this showed remarkable stability. Price inflation
averaged 7.2 percent over the same period, implying a
real investment return of 3.8 percent16. As nominal
earnings grew by an annual average of 10.3 percent or at
real rate of 2.9 percent, the real investment return of the
NPF exceeded real earnings growth by almost 1
percentage point. This performance is reasonable but not
impressive by international standards. Pension funds in
some high income countries have earned much higher real
returns relative to real wage growth over the 1990s,
although it remains to be seen whether such stellar
performance can be sustained over long periods.

Table  A7: Rates of investment return, price increases and earnings increases

Year Rate of return Price increases Earnings
ending 30 June increases

1991 11.1% 12.8% 15.0%

1992 11.2% 2.9% 8.7%

1993 11.8% 8.9% 6.8%

1994 9.9% 9.4% 17.3%

1995 10.3% 6.1% 11.4%

1996 11.2% 5.8% 7.0%

1997 10.4% 7.9% 11.0%

1998 15.2% 5.4% 8.0%

1999 10.9% 7.9% 8.6%

2000 10.9% 5.3% 8.8%

Average 11.3% 7.2% 10.3%

Source: GAD 2001a.

16 The returns reported by the GAD review are slightly higher than those shown in Table A5, probably because they are calculated on the basis of

investment assets alone, whereas Table A5 is based on total assets.



The financial performance of the NPF is generally
satisfactory by comparison to public pension funds in
most developing countries. While its operating cost ratios
are higher than those of the national provident funds of
Singapore and Malaysia (reflecting among other things the
greater economies of scale enjoyed by the much larger
Singaporean and Malaysian funds), its assets are  better
diversified than such funds in Malaysia, Singapore, Sri
Lanka and most other developing countries in the region.
Public pension funds in developing countries are often
required to invest preponderantly in non-traded
government securities, a feature that is absent in
Mauritius. The real investment returns of the NPF have
been higher than those of most public pension funds,
including the national provident funds of Singapore and Sri
Lanka (though not Malaysia, where the Employees’
Provident Fund has achieved comparable real returns).

This satisfactory financial performance of the NPF over the
1990s was marred by the discovery in February 2003 of a
fraud that had been ongoing for five years and involved a
time deposit of MUR 500 million with the Mauritius
Commercial Bank (MCB), the largest and oldest
commercial bank in the country. The NPF accounts are
audited by the Director of Audits, but usually with a lag of
at least two years. This incident underscores the
importance of commissioning external audits by private
international firms as well as the need to strengthen
internal audit and control systems.

Despite its satisfactory financial performance, the NPF
faces two major challenges. First, there is a need for
greater diversification of assets in non-government
securities as well as in foreign assets. The NPF has
selected one foreign asset manager after a competitive
bidding process, but it should consider awarding
mandates to one or two additional foreign asset managers
to lessen its total reliance on the investment advice and
performance of only one manager. Relations with the
external manager and all international investments are
effected through the Treasury Foreign Currency
Management Fund (TFCMF), a unit that appears to be a
relic of the times when exchange controls were imposed
on capital flows. The TFCMF is clearly redundant and its
role should be re-examined with a view to its elimination.

Investing a greater proportion of assets in local company
shares and debentures and perhaps also in mortgage
bonds or mortgage-backed securities would require the
creation of a more transparent, professional and
independent fund governance and asset management
structure. Such a change in fund governance would be
necessary to reassure private sector companies that
increased holdings of company shares by the NPF would
not result in increased influence of the state in company
management. When state institutions become major
holders of company shares, there is always the risk or fear
of effective “nationalization through the back door”.

With appropriate changes in its membership to reflect the
changing structure of the economy (for example
representation of the sugar industry should be reduced)
and ensure presence of professional experts, the National
Pensions Board could be transformed into an independent
Board of Trustees of the NPF. It could become its governing
body with a direct role in managing its affairs and proper
accountability to the Minister and the Assembly.

In this context, the role and functions of the Investment
Committee should also be changed. It should have a
majority of private sector members with high
professional expertise, including Certified Financial
Analysts (CFAs) and other professionals, and should
report and be accountable to the Board of Trustees. Both
the Board of Trustees and the Investment Committee
should be issued with clear mandates and should be
insulated from political interference by the establishment
of safeguards along the lines recently adopted in Canada
and Ireland.

The second challenge is to enhance the transparency of its
operations and simplify the link between contributions and
benefits. The authorities are considering a move from the
opaque point system, that has not worked very well, to a
defined contribution system with individual capitalization
accounts and crediting of net investment returns to
workers’ accounts. On retirement, workers could use their
accumulated balances for purchasing a real annuity from
the NPF, that would reflect the market-determined term
structure of interest rates and life expectancy at
retirement. But they could also be given the option to
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adopt a program of scheduled withdrawals, with the
monthly payment determined once a year on the basis of
remaining life expectancy, or buying an annuity from a
private insurance company.

To protect workers from the volatility of financial market
returns, the NPF could also develop and offer products that
aim at protecting the principal value of workers’
contributions, either in nominal or in real terms. Such
products would need to be carefully priced to avoid the
creation of distorted incentives that could cause trouble in
the longer run.

Any changes in the structure and operations of the NPF
would need to be studied carefully and implemented
cautiously. Pension systems involve very long-term
contracts spanning more than sixty years and have far-
reaching social, economic and financial implications.
Protecting the interests of workers is of paramount
importance. However, it is also essential to ensure that the
NPF continues to operate efficiently and does not grow so
much that it ends up by dominating the local financial
system. One option for avoiding the latter risk would be to
allow private sector employers who establish well-run and
transparent pension funds to be exempt from participating
in the NPF. Effectively, this would involve extending to such
private sector employers the exemption already enjoyed
by the various statutory bodies. An even more promising
option would be to give individual workers the right to
choose between the NPF and the pension fund established
by their employer.

Several operational features of the NPF depend on
decisions regarding the overall structure of the pension
system. For instance, the question of whether the ceiling
on contributions should be restored to its original level is
indicative of the complexity and inter-relatedness of
pension issues. If the NPF were to be converted to a DC
plan and a contracting-out option given to employers and
employees, then restoration and even elimination of the
ceiling could be desirable. But if the NPF were to continue
as a compulsory DB plan without any contracting-out
option, then restoration of the ceiling to its original level
would not be advisable. This is because a high ceiling
would substantially restrict the scope for occupational
pension schemes while also resulting in much higher

contributions and a much larger NPF, increasing the risk of
market domination by a state-run institution. Similar
considerations argue against an increase in the
contribution rate (the current low level of payroll taxes is
an attractive feature of the Mauritian pension system).
Rather than increasing payroll taxes, a better alternative
would be to lower the level of promised benefits to a more
realistic level, increase the normal retirement age, or
enhance further the investment performance of the NPF.
However, given the continuation of a reformed and
affordable BRP, a better alternative would be to convert the
NPF to a DC scheme and allow contracting out to both
employers and employees.

NATIONAL SAVINGS FUND
(NSF)

The NSF is a defined-contribution scheme that offers
workers a lump sum on retirement. It started operating in
1994/5 and had an estimated 340,000 participating
workers in 2001 (Table A8). All employees are required to
participate in the NSF, including civil servants and
employees of statutory bodies. However, contributions are
assessed on earnings above the lower earnings limit that
applies to NPF contributions and thus low-paid workers
are not covered. As in the case of the NPF, contributions
are not assessed on earnings that exceed the upper
earnings limit. The contribution rate amounts to 2.5
percent of covered earnings and is paid by employers.

Benefits are given in the form of lump sums on normal or
early retirement. Lump sums are equal to the contributions
made in individual accounts plus credited interest income.
According to the wording of the relevant act, employees
are entitled to receive as a minimum the total nominal
value of their contributions. This implies a guarantee that
the accumulated lifetime interest income will not be
negative. Operating costs are covered by an administrative
charge that cannot exceed 2.5 percent of contributions
and is deducted from investment income. An actuarial
review of the NSF was also carried out by GAD in 2001
(GAD 2001b).
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The NSF accumulated resources amounting to MUR 2.8
billion in June 2001 (2.2 percent of GDP). The largest part
of assets (82 percent) is invested in government securities
(18 percent in government bonds and 64 percent in
treasury bills). 6 percent is placed in bank deposits and 10
percent is lent to various organisations, mostly to the
Mauritius Housing Corporation. The conservative
investment portfolio is partly linked to the offer of the
nominal guarantee but it also reflects a strong preference
for government paper and other public sector securities.
The NSF, like other public sector institutions, invests in the
various state companies and investment funds.

The NSF does not play a major part either as a pension
fund or as a financial institution. Rather than developing a
separate infrastructure to enhance its efficiency and direct
its investments toward the private sector, a more
promising alternative would be to merge its activities into
the reformed NPF, when the latter is converted into a
defined-contribution system.

THE CIVIL SERVICE PENSION
SCHEME (CSPS)

The last component of public provision of pensions covers
the CSPS. This is often characterized as overly generous in
comparison to the benefits offered by the NPF. This is
because it is a non-contributory scheme that offers a
pension equal to two-thirds of the salary of the last month

of employment after 400 months of service (33.3 years).
Moreover, pensions are indexed to same rank earnings
(this is a major element of cost that, together with the use
of the salary of the last month of employment, exposes the
CSPS to huge outlays, especially toward senior civil
servants who benefit from large promotions at the end of
their active careers). In contrast, the NPF is contributory
and promises a one-third replacement rate of covered
earnings after 480 months of service (40 years). As noted,
indexation of the cost and value of points to prices rather
than earnings has lowered the effective replacement  rate
of the NPF to 26 percent at this juncture and to a projected
12.5 percent when it reaches full maturity. Moreover, NPF
benefits are at most adjusted for price inflation.

However, this characterization, though accurate, is
incomplete. The CSPS is both a general and a
supplementary occupational scheme. Though still more
generous, its benefits are not overly so by comparison to
occupational pension schemes operated by large private
sector employers. (The benefits of the pension schemes
operated by various statutory bodies are similar in
structure to those of the CSPS.)  Private sector schemes
also offer a two-thirds pension based on the last salary but
after 480 months of service. Pensions in payment benefit
from ad hoc adjustments to compensate for inflation but
they are not linked to same rank earnings. In fact, tax
regulations limit annual increases in private sector
pension payments to no more than 3 percent. Thus, private
sector pensions suffer a significant erosion of their real
value over time. Nevertheless, the CSPS should be seen as
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Table A8: NSF: Participating Workers and Financial Data (1997-2001)

1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

Employees (000s) 313 316 306 336 340

Contributions (MUR million) 282 305 306 375 389

Assets (MUR million) 948 1366 1825 2385 2849

Assets (% GDP) 1.07 1.37 1.70 2.01 2.17

Source: NSF



part of the total remuneration package of civil servants. It
may compensate for a lower level of remuneration during
their active life by comparison to employees of large
private sector companies17.

Like most defined benefit schemes anywhere in the world,
retiring civil servants are entitled to commute to a tax-free
lump sum up to 25 percent of their pension. The capital
sum is equal to 12.5 times the converted amount of the
pension. The same benefit is extended to members of the
schemes of statutory bodies and private companies and
the same limit and formula are applied to them18. While
use of a fixed formula, irrespective of life expectancy and
prevailing level of interest rates, is open to criticism, the
multiple of 12.5 is not generous.

Because of progressive aging of the covered population,
the cost of the CSPS is projected to increase from its
current level of 20 percent of the total salaries bill to 30
percent in 15 years time and 50 percent by 2050. At that
time, benefits paid could correspond to between 3 and 3.5
percent of GDP. The civil service scheme has 50,000
active members and about 30,000 beneficiaries. (Local
government schemes that are similar in structure cover
about 5,000 employees.) 

The CSPS faces several critical policy issues. The first
concerns the establishment of an appropriate basis and
level of funding in order to protect benefits from future
budgetary pressures. The second is a need to harmonize
its terms and conditions with those offered by private
sector entities in order to facilitate labour mobility
between the civil service and the private sector. However,
in addressing these challenges it is important to examine

the whole compensation package of civil servants to
ensure that the civil service continues to be able to attract,
train and retain high calibre staff. Nevertheless some
aspects of the scheme that tend to distort incentives and
cause large increases in expenditures (such as continuing
use of the last salary for calculating pensions, early
retirement with generous benefits, and indexation to same
rank earnings) would need to be revisited.

As in many other countries around the world, one feasible
reform option would be to create a defined-contribution
scheme for new recruits to the civil service, while
continuing the defined-benefit scheme for existing civil
servants. A DC scheme would be both funded and fully
portable and would not pose any obstacles to labour
mobility. Establishing a fund to cover the actuarial
liabilities of the existing scheme would pose a much
greater challenge, given the large size of these liabilities
(already estimated at 33 percent of GDP) and the
budgetary pressures currently faced by the public sector.
Moreover, a fund that is not invested in non-government
securities would be of little value. It might therefore be
advisable to continue with the current policy of unfunded
benefits for existing civil servants, at least for as long as
budgetary pressures persist. Over time, a buffer fund
could be created to cover part of the unfunded liabilities,
depending on the budgetary situation. But the difficulty of
funding a previously unfunded but mature system should
strengthen the argument for creating a fully funded DC
scheme for new staff.
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17 Civil servants have other unorthodox benefits ostensibly to compensate them for their allegedly low salaries. For example, they are entitled to

purchase duty-free cars every four years and to retain any gains made in selling their old cars in the second-hand market. Senior civil servants

also derive considerable benefits from serving on various committees and boards.
18 Local experts indicate that in the private sector the commutation factor is often significantly lower, taking into account mortality experience,

interest rates, and intended pension increases.
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INTRODUCTION
Following recent unprecedented events that have affected a number of top companies worldwide a new phase of reporting
is emerging which places more emphasis on accountability, transparency and corporate social responsibility. This change in
reporting has been triggered by statutory requirements and also by the willingness to sustain an open policy on the part of
many companies irrespective of their size.

Over the last few years the number of global companies reporting on their environment and social performance and
programmes has increased significantly. With a marked increase in reporting from sectors such as the financial services
sector, this growth looks set to continue. At the same time the range of issues on which many choose to report has grown to
represent a much broader understanding of and responsibility to society as a whole. It is said that real benefits will accrue
to companies which imbibe social and environmental responsibilities as an integral part of a well managed business rather
than just a well-meaning public awareness slogan.

A lot has been written lately about Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) and different definitions given to it. A simple basic
definition of CSR could be interpreted as the ways in which companies manage the business processes to produce an
overall positive impact on society. The illustration below sums up CSR.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
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source: CSR wire services



The inner circle of the above illustration refers to the
quality of management of companies both in terms of
people and processes whereas the outer circle represents
the   nature of, and quantity of their impact on society in
the various areas. Companies should therefore address
the two aspects of their operations.

Stakeholders are taking an increasing interest in the
activity of the company. Most look to the outer circle
which focuses on what the company has actually done,
good or bad, in terms of its products and services, in
terms of its impact on the environment and on local
communities, or how it treats and develops its workforce.
Out of the various stakeholders, it is the financial analysts
who are predominantly concerned about past financial
performance and used quality of management as an
indicator of likely future performance.

DIFFERENT APPROACHES & 
EVOLUTION OF CSR
The World Business Council for Sustainable Development
in its publication “Making Good Business Sense” by Lord
Home and Richard Watts, used the following definition:

“Corporate Social Responsibility is the continuing
commitment by business to behave ethically and
contribute to economic development while improving the
quality of life of the workforce and their families as well as
of the local community and society at large”.

The same report gave some evidence of the different
perceptions of what this should mean from a number of
different societies across the world. Definitions as different
as “CSR is about capacity building for sustainable
livelihoods, it respects cultural differences and finds the
business opportunities in building the skills of employees,
the community and the government. From Ghana, through to
Philippines, “CSR” is about business giving back to society”.

Moreover in the United States, CSR has been approached
and developed more in terms of a philanthropic model by
visionary leaders like Rockfeller, Carnegie, Ford, Hewlett
and Packard. Companies which make profits, unhindered
except by fulfilling their duty to pay taxes, donate a certain

share of their profits to charitable causes. It is seen as
tainting the act for the company to receive any benefit
from the giving.

The European model is much more focused on operating
the core business in a socially responsible way,
complemented by investment in communities for solid
business case reasons. It is argued that this model is
more sustainable because:

• Special responsibility becomes an integral part of the
wealth creation process – which if managed properly
should enhance the competitiveness of business and
maximize the value of wealth creation to society.

• When times get hard, there is the incentive to practice
CSR more and better – if it is a philanthropic exercise
which is peripheral to the main business, it will always
be the first thing to go when there is little to share.

It is noticed that as with any process based on the
collective activities of communities of human beings (as
companies are) there is no “one size fits all”. In different
countries, there will be different priorities, and values that
will shape how business act.

The formalized efforts of CSR in some countries could be
seen in the form of tax break to companies making
charitable contributions to non - profit organisations.
Today, however, corporate charity is not significant enough
to solve the serious social and economic problems in
society. Companies interested in promoting prosperous
societies have to look beyond traditional charity
programmes towards more sustainable ones if they intend
to affect social and economic change that will
simultaneously support their profit making strategies.

Many companies as well as non-profit organisations
accept the need for responsible behaviour as a matter of
principle. They claim that CSR can help build brand value,
foster customer loyalty, motivate their staff and contribute
to good reputation among a wide range of stakeholders.
At the same time their involvement can have an
immensely positive impact on social and environment
issues.

Financial Services Commission Mauritius
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CSR offers an approach that gets away from the old view
that economic and social goals must somehow always be
in conflict. A successful society needs business, the
public sector and voluntary organisations working together
to attain the objectives of CSR. In this competitive world
CSR needs to have genuine economic foundation. It must
assist, not compromise, performance and it needs to be
genuine proven experience rather than hopes or dogma. It
must also stimulate genuinely responsible behaviours that
make a real difference. CSR cannot be just corporate
smoke screen. Responsibility should not stop at national
bound. Special considerations including human rights
environmental impacts and a responsible organisation
have to be responsible at home as well as abroad.

GLOBAL TRENDS
Although CSR is expressed in many different ways it is
said that in all countries, except Japan (where there is a
highly developed sense of CSR) CSR will be high on
companies’ agenda.

Research has shown that

• In the UK, CSR policies and activities have become quite
popular.

• In the United States CSR is becoming more sophisticated
and is taking up more management time.

• In France CSR is being described as an impending “new
revolution” where companies would have to cooperate
with the stakeholders especially the employees.

• In Australia the move is for business schools to run
programmes on CSR for tomorrow’s leaders

• In Japan, the expected trend is for greater sponsorship
of non-profit organisations and non-governmental
organisations.

EMERGING REGULATORY FRAMEWORK
Although most of the current CSR guidelines are voluntary,
legislative frameworks are being developed to require
reporting on CSR issues and, in particular, the risks that
companies face in this area. In some jurisdictions
occupational investment funds are obliged to disclose in
their investment policies the extent to which they take

ethical, social and environmental issues into account
when making investment decisions. For instance in the UK
the Pension Act 1995 provides for such requirements.

Codes on corporate behaviour have been issued by a variety
of non-government organisations: the “Global Sullivan
Principles” established in the 1970’s; the guidance manual
produced by the Business Impact taskforce; principles
developed under United Nations auspices, such as the “UN
Global Compact”, and frameworks that are supported by
government , such as the Department of Trade and Industry
sponsored SIGMA project  in the UK which is a
comprehensive joint project of the British Standards
Institution, Accountability  and Forum for the Future.

For instance the California Public Employees Retirement
System (Calpers) in the US caused a significant ripple with
its decision to pull out of certain parts of the world where
it said that there were ethical concerns. Indonesia,
Malaysia, the Philippines and Thailand were removed from
the portfolio of Calpers.

SUSTAINABILITY INDEX
The increased demand for information on CSR performance
has produced new market indices that recognize, in
addition to financial performance, the performance, the
environmental and social activities of a business. These
include the Dow Jones Sustainability and the FTSE4Good
Indices. Both aim to recognize CSR performance by
measuring a range of additional non-financial criteria,
including environmental and social factors.

Sustainability indexes provide objective benchmarks for the
financial products that are linked to economic environmental
and social criteria. They offer both, a performance baseline
as well as an investment universe, for the increasing
number of mutual funds, trusts and other investment
vehicles which are based on the concept of sustainability.

The FTSE4Good index was published for the first time in
July last year. Of the FTSE 100 companies, 64 were
eligible for the FTSE4Good benchmark index.
The exclusion from the index of several high profile
companies was prominently reported by the press.
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In order to be included in the FTSE4Good benchmark
index, a company must pass eligibility criteria covering
environmental sustainability, positive relationships with
stakeholders and supporting universal human rights. They
must also have management systems, performance and
monitoring, independently verified reporting and
stakeholder consultation. The eligibility criteria for the
index are drawn from international legal instruments and
standards such as the Universal Declaration of Human
Rights.

Sustainability indexes are becoming increasingly
important to investors since it enables them to better
focus their investment according to their preferred choice.
They can either through investment funds or directly target
those companies that are compatible with their interest.
These Indexes usually track companies’ performance
according to their profile and investment objectives.

A survey undertaken by Environics International in 2001
on the way consumers and societies at large perceived the
social and environmental responsibilities of business
reveals that in the United States where 61% of people own
share, more than a quarter said that they had bought or
sold shares on the basis of a company’s social
performance. A similar picture emerged in Canada, Britain
and Italy.

THE COST OF CSR
If one asks the question of whether a company should
allocate a percentage of its income or profits to social
responsibility programme, the response would clearly be
negative according to recent research on CSR. It is argued
that this is the wrong approach because accounting
systems cannot track waste reduction or community
involvement. Social responsibility should not be lumped
into any particular department. The whole process should
be driven from the bottom up where each business unit
must operate with a consistent corporate philosophy.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
IN MAURITIUS
In all fairness, it may be true to say that social responsibility
of companies does not form part of the corporate culture in
Mauritius. However, companies, especially the large ones,
are becoming aware of their role beyond profit-generating
entities. It may be about time that the top 100 companies in
Mauritius should revisit their commitment and  budget allo-
cated to corporate social responsibility. Some of us may
argue that it is not the role of companies to forge ahead in
that direction while others bluntly put the responsibility on
the corporations themselves – arguing that the bottom line
cannot be profit and profit only. This is on-going debate.

It is widely said that social responsibility must be inherent
in an organisation’s objective strategy, simply to aid the
well being of society. However, without bottom line
concerns, social responsibility cannot be implemented. In
most cases a company must make a profit before it can
contribute to a society in dire need. Hence when the
business entity is profitable, social integrity can be
regarded as pre-eminent concern.

As our country depends heavily on tourism activities,
companies operating in that sector are conscious of their
role concerning the environment and other related areas.
Efforts are being made by some companies to protect the
environment which have an impact on their profit while
ensuring their economic survival and thus fulfilling partly
their corporate social responsibility.

Government has taken measures to establish good
corporate governance principles which will impact on the
life of companies. These principles will definitely change
the way business is being conducted by giving due
consideration to stakeholders’ concern. When put into
practice corporate governance principles will definitely
sway the mind set of the business community in the
pursuit of corporate goals. Within those broad principles
CSR is strikingly important as its aim is to create higher
standards of living while preserving the profitability of the
company and taking into consideration the interest of
stakeholders.

Financial Services Commission Mauritius
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PROPOSED MAPPING OF EFFECTIVE CSR 
IN MAURITIUS
There is no doubt that there are a large number of private
and public companies operating in the local and overseas
market without giving much consideration to CSR because
of sheer ignorance or avoidance. However, it should be
said that no one is solely responsible for this situation.
Instead of levelling criticism against the state of CSR a
more proactive role should be taken by all those
concerned especially the companies themselves.

It is said that CSR is part and parcel of the overall
corporate governance and it is therefore natural that
adherence to good corporate governance principles by
companies will inevitably push them into adopting CSR.
However the extent to which each company would adopt
CSR will depend very much on a number of factors. These
may be either internal or external to a company depending
on its size, nature of activities, market, profitability,
customers etc.

The following points may, inter alia, be explored when
promoting CSR.
Globalisation. Globalisation is bringing change in the way
business enterprise operates and companies in Mauritius
shall have to adapt as there are no choices. It also means
competition on an equal footing within broad parameters
set out by international institutions having the mandate to
do so. Inevitably the adoption of CSR will be on the agenda
sooner rather than later. Companies in Mauritius should
therefore realize this development and be prepared to
meet the challenges.

Ethical Business Conduct. Companies wishing to adopt
CSR should pay particular attention to ethical business
conduct based on a code of ethics. It may be true to say
that the majority of companies do not have a code of
ethics because they have not really embarked on a CSR
programme. The importance of such a programme is
strikingly important as it provides guidance not only to
those who are with the company but also to outsiders
dealing with it.

Health, Safety and Environment. Companies who have
adopted CSR vouch that high standards in occupational
health, safety and environment are an essential  part of

achieving efficiency and profitability. Quite a few local
companies are already conscious of environmental issues
that there are budgeted expenditure for such an item in
their books.

Employee Rights. Individual rights of employees should be
respected as provided by the laws. Companies should
provide meaningful employment opportunities for people,
competitive pay and are committed to training and
personal development of their employees.

Transparency. We are all “hungry” for information simply
because we live in an information driven economy where
business transactions are carried out in a transparent
manner. Stakeholders are ever interested in having access
to information  about corporate activities to enable them
make informed judgment. Companies should provide
necessary structure for the dissemination of information to
all stakeholders.

Knowledge. The transition to an information-based
economy also means consumers and investors have more
information at their disposal than at any time in our
history. They are more discerning and can wield more
influence. Information on products and services should be
made readily available by companies to consumers and
investors so that they make a choice in purchasing a
particular product or using a service.

For instance investors can choose stocks or investment
funds based not on financial factors but on social and
environmental criteria as well (please refer to the example
of Calpers given earlier in this paper). This is a
fundamentally new phenomenon, potentially altering the
balance of power between consumers/investors and
companies in ways we are only beginning to understand.

Sustainability. With the depletion of the earth’s natural
resources we are fast approaching or have already crossed
the sustainability yield thresholds of many natural ecosystems
which cannot keep pace with projected population growth. As
a result companies are under increasing pressure from
diverse stakeholders to demonstrate business plan and
strategies which are environmentally sound and contribute to
sustained development.
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International Standards. Very often companies’ overall
performances are often judged by standards which have
been adopted in conducting business. In many areas
internationally acceptable standards have been
established to rate companies on different aspect of their
operations. Please refer to sustainability index discussed
earlier in this paper. For instance International Accounting
Standards are being used by companies not only because
of statutory obligations but also to provide the market an
overview of their financial performance especially those
listed on stock exchanges.

Costs. CSR is costly and it is unfortunate that companies
will have to bear the brunt. However, their financial burden
could be alleviated by providing tax incentives to those
who have the will to establish an effective CSR
programme. This has worked in other countries and this
avenue should be explored carefully.

CONCLUSION
In the new global economy, companies are being asked to
play a more active role in addressing social problems that
were once thought to be the exclusive responsibility of
government and civil society. The concept of CSR has
gained ground among the public and within the business
community itself. Companies are not evaluated in terms of
financial performance alone but increasingly on the basis
of a new “triple bottom line” of financial, social and
environmental performance. In this new business
environment a company’s reputation has become one of
its most valuable assets and CSR becomes one of the key
components of corporate reputation.

In Mauritius we cannot afford to ignore the importance of
CSR when devising corporate objectives. Leaders of the
business enterprises are quite aware and familiar with the
implications and benefits of CSR. It goes without saying
that developments do not only heighten awareness of CSR
but create the conditions for its adoption.
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The FSC Survey aimed to gather general financial data as well as specific sectoral information pertaining to each NBFI for
the year 2002. As general information for all NBFIs (except insurance companies as the financial data is already retrieved
through statutory forms), data relating to the financial position, financial performance and employment were sought. With
regards to specific information pertaining to each category of NBFI, the following were sought:

ANNEX 1

FSC STATISTICAL SURVEY METHODOLOGY

INFORMATION SOUGHT

Financial Services Commission Mauritius
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Table A1: Survey Information on NBFIs

NBFI Specific Information Sought

Insurance Companies • No. policies by type of business

• Aggregate value of premiums received

• Aggregate value of claims paid

• No. pension schemes administered / insured by category
of activity

• Aggregate value of pension schemes under management

• Aggregate data relating to operating performance of 
pension schemes

Investment Managers, Asset Managers • Structure of investment schemes under management 
& Venture Capital Companies • Aggregate value of managed assets

Pension Administrators & Actuaries • No. pension schemes administered / insured by category
of activity

• Aggregate value of pension schemes under management

• Aggregate data relating to operating performance of 
pension schemes

Stockbroking Companies • Aggregate value of client accounts

• Volume of transactions

Leasing Companies • No. lease contracts by type of business

Credit Finance Companies • Types of products financed

• Value of financing

Insurance Brokers • Details on direct insurance broking business

Management Companies • No. GBCs (1) by breakdown of activity

• Aggregate value of funds under management

Corporate Trustees • Aggregate value of funds under trusteeship

• Value of custody of assets

• No. GBCs (1) under trusteeship

Captive Managers • No. GBCs (1) by activity of insurance

• Structure of GBCs (1)

• Aggregate value of premiums received

• Aggregate value of claims paid



COVERAGE OF SURVEY

Table A2 indicates the coverage of the Survey.
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Table A2: Survey Coverage

NBFI Population Response Reporting information on
Rate

Insurance Companies 19 90% Pension schemes

Insurance companies

Investment Managers, 12 100% Authorised mutual funds
Asset Managers & Unit trust schemes
Venture Capital Companies

Pension Administrators 2 100% Pension schemes

Stockbroking Companies 11 100% Stockbroking companies

Leasing Companies 12 100% Leasing companies

Credit Finance Companies 3 100% Credit finance companies

Insurance Brokers 9 100% Insurance brokers

Actuaries 1 100% Actuaries

Management Companies 77 51% Management Companies

GBCs 1

Corporate Trustees 22 Corporate Trustees

Captive Managers 7 Captive Managers

GBCs 1 involved in insurance,
re-insurance & brokerage



LIST OF ENTITIES TARGETED IN SURVEY

Insurance Companies
See List of Licensees

Investment Managers & Asset Managers
1. Bramer Investment Management Co. Ltd.
2. Cirne Financial Services Ltd
3. Confident Asset Management Limited
4. Galileo Portfolio Services Ltd
5. Long Investment (Mauritius) Ltd
6. MCB Investment Management Co. Ltd.
7. Multipliant Management Co. Ltd
8. Premium Asset Management Ltd.
9. SICOM Financial Services Ltd.
10. SBM Mauritius Asset Managers Ltd
11. Tomfin Asset Management Ltd
12. Venture Capital Partners Ltd

Pension Administrators
1. Pension Consultants & Administrators Ltd
2. Feber Associates Ltd

Stockbroking Companies
See List of Licensees

Leasing Companies
1. ABC Finance & Leasing Ltd
2. Barclays Leasing Company Ltd
3. Finlease Company Ltd.
4. General Leasing Co. Ltd.
5. Global Direct Leasing Ltd
6. Island Leasing Co. Ltd.
7. La Prudence Leasing Finance 
8. Mauritian Eagle Leasing Company Ltd
9. MUA Leasing Co. Ltd.
10. SBM Lease Limited
11. SICOM Financial Services Ltd.
12. The Mauritius Leasing Company Ltd

Credit Finance Companies
1. CIM Credit Ltd.
2. CIM Finance Ltd
3. Ecocredit Finance Ltd.

Insurance Brokers
See List of Licensees

Actuaries
1. Bacon Woodrow & Legris Ltd

Management Companies
See List of Licensees (those licensed as at 31 December
2002)

Corporate Trustees
See List of Licensees

Captive Managers
See List of Licensees
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Annex 6: EQUITY TRADING ON THE OFFICIAL MARKET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2002-2003

Volume (000) Turnover (000) Market Capitalisation 
2002-2003 2001-2002 % 2002-2003 2001-2002 % End End %

Change Change June 2003 June 2002 Change

BANK & INSURANCE
MCB 9,361 3,455 171  468,266 292,365 60 8,040,147,996 4,544,104,968 77 
SWAN 97 173 -44  4,778 6,919 (31) 441,037,779 326,296,243 35 
BAI 1,819 4,243 -57  5,921 14,748 (60) 375,000,000 335,000,000 12 
MUA 952 685 39  30,456 19,833 54 410,800,000 266,240,000 54 
MEI 30 40 -25  1,534 1,796 (15) 147,999,963 119,999,970 23 
SBM 54,371 31,972 70 736,426 374,544 97 6,387,750,000 4,437,000,000 44 
Sub-total 66,630 40,568 64  1,247,381 710,205 76 15,802,735,738 10,028,641,181 58
INVESTMENT
MDIT 6,650 8,290 -20  25,103 26,500 (5) 758,569,303 582,157,837 30 
GIDC O 188 3,553 -95  560 12,745 (96) 89,598,026 76,798,308 17 
GIDC P 25 1,020 -98  73 3,634 (98) - - -
UDL 282 304 -7  8,674 9,798 (11) 346,368,000 337,920,000 3 
POLICY 7,961 4,534 76  17,361 8,619 101 281,960,007 191,520,005 47 
LIT 81 52 56  877 531 65 73,500,000 55,125,000 33 
NIT 6,482 3,813 70  78,416 43,692 79 625,747,500 479,587,500 30 
BMH 12 9 33  598 407 47 243,206,232 213,338,800 14 
FINCORP 4,821 2,809 72  27,817 10,293 170 540,696,870 480,619,440 13 
PAD 1,096 929 18  14,529 9,145 59 765,000,000 446,250,000 71 
Sub-total 27,598 25,313 9  174,008 125,364 39 3,724,645,938 2,863,316,890 30 
INDUSTRY
MSM 200 69 190  9,525 2,780 243 210,487,200 159,192,000 32 
UBP 437 620 -30  16,884 19,804 (15) 759,954,566 618,567,670 23 
MCFI 1,153 2,075 -44  10,149 13,742 (26) 246,471,881 171,650,060 44 
MOROIL 637 821 -22  6,149 6,880 (11) 274,562,112 222,145,708 24 
MBL 225 534 -58  10,197 23,146 (56) 524,472,000 443,784,000 18 
PIM 148 11 1,245  3,690 249 1,382 64,000,000 49,600,000 29 
G.CIVIC 1,454 1,100 32  34,335 27,725 24 256,250,000 251,125,000 2 
Sub-total 4,254 5,230 -19  90,929 94,326 (4) 2,336,197,759 1,916,064,438 22 
SUGAR
MTMD 692 1,686 -59  31,532 70,637 (55) 3,015,558,180 2,680,496,160 13 
MDA O 12 222 -95  1,060 13,232 (92) 179,917,800 120,544,926 49 
MDA P 8 147 -95  729 10 726 (93) - - -
SAVA O 35 144 -76  2,721 16,214 (83) 305,501,475 374,748,476 (18)
SAVA P 1 70 -99  97 7,535 (99) - - -
H.FRERE 112 396 -72  4,393 8,789 (50) 521,502,000 445,884,210 17 
MOUNT 52 198 -74  568 1,782 (68) 169,954,240 111,812,000 52 
Sub-total 912 2,863 -68  41,100 128,915 (68) 4,192,433,695 3,733,485,772 12
COMMERCE
ROGERS 943 1,113 -15  76,362 80,476 (5) 2,318,816,760 1,877,737,485 23 
COURTS 2,381 41,675 -94  5,634 132,756 (96) 380,250,000 234,000,000 63 
H.MALLAC 128 36 256  5,202 926 462 472,894,296 292,744,088 62 
CMPL 6 66 -91  55 530 (90) 28,515,500 19,851,175 44 
SHELL 288 756 -62  13,259 30,390 (56) 1,612,723,860 1,172,890,080 38 
IBL 897 1,874 -52  14,622 24,326 (40) 1,400,191,326 928,698,329 51 
HWF 210 447 -53  3,531 8,332 (58) 543,607,936 679,509,921 (20)
Sub-total 4,853 45,967 -89  118,665 277,736 (57) 6,756,999,678 5,205,431,078 30
LEISURE & HOTELS
S.RESORTS 1,796 2,277 -21  77,161 94,598 (18) 4,076,167,716 3,546,549,637 15 
ASL 59 43 37  1,197 930 29 73,528,000 67,872,000 8 
G.BAIE * 18 2 209 -99  763 98,805 (99) - 808,000,000 -
NMH 6,648 11,914 -44  238,086 364,756 (35) 6,085,667,307 3,350,000,000 82 
Sub-total 8,521 16,443 -48 317,207 559,089 (43) 10,235,363,023 7,772,421,637 32
TRANSPORT
A.MTIUS 2,532 2,836 -11  33,007 33,184 (1) 1,677,802,000 1,493,653,000 12

* Following reorganisation of the NMH Group, the shares of G.Baie Hotels have been de-listed in February 2003



INSURANCE COMPANIES

1. Albatross Insurance Company Ltd
2. Anglo Mauritius Assurance Society Ltd
3. British American Insurance Co. (Mtius) Ltd
4. CeylincoStella Insurance Company Ltd
5. GFA Insurance Ltd
6. Indian Ocean General Assurance Ltd
7. Island General Insurance Co. Ltd
8. Island Life Assurance Co. Ltd
9. Jubilee Insurance (Mauritius) Ltd
10. Lamco International Insurance Ltd
11. La Prudence (Mauricienne) Assurances Ltee
12. Leadway Insurance Co. Ltd
13. Life Insurance Corporation of India
14. Llyods 
15. Mauritian Eagle Insurance Company Ltd
16. Mauritius Union Assurance Company Ltd
17. New India Assurance Company Ltd
18. Rainbow Insurance Company Ltd
19. Seagull Insurance Company Ltd*
20. Secura Global Insurance Co. Ltd.*
21. State Insurance Company of Mauritius Ltd
22. Sun Insurance Company Ltd
23. Swan Insurance Company Ltd

* in process of liquidation. Seagull Insurance Company Ltd has been

de-registered for general insurance business but is still registered for

long term insurance business

INSURANCE BROKERS

1. Alexander Forbes (Mauritius) Ltd
2. BritAm Ltd.
3. Brokers & Consultants Ltd.
4. Chartered Brokers Ltd.
5. City Brokers Ltd.
6. Cover.age Insurance Brokers
7. Guy Leroux Brokers Ltd.
8. INRE Management Services Ltd.
9. London Associates Ltd
10. Medibroker Ltd
11. MIB Ltd

STOCKBROKING COMPANIES

1. ASMO Securities & Investment Ltd
2. Associated Brokers Limited
3. Capital Markets Brokers Ltd.
4. Cavell Securities Ltd.
5. Cirne Stockbrokers Ltd
6. First Brokers Ltd.
7. General Brokerage Ltd.
8. MCB Stockbrokers Ltd
9. Newton Securities Ltd.
10. Ramet & Associates Ltée
11. SBM Securities Ltd.

ENTITIES LICENSED UNDER
SECTION 14 OF THE FSD ACT

1. Bacon Woodrow & Legris Ltd
2. Capital Asset Management Ltd
3. Confident Asset Management Limited
4. Ecocredit Ltd
5. Feber Associates Ltd
6. Galileo Portfolio Services
7. GML Trésorerie Ltee
8. Hong Kong Shanghai Banking Corporation
9. I & P Management (Indian Ocean) Ltd
10. La Prudence Leasing Finance Co. Ltd
11. Long Investment (Mauritius) Ltd
12. MCB Investment Management Company Ltd
13. Pension Consultants and Administrators
14. SIC Fund Management Ltd
15. SICOM Financial Services Ltd

LIST OF LICENSEES

Financial Services Commission Mauritius
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MANAGEMENT COMPANIES

1. A.A.M.I.L Ltd
2. Abacus Financial Services (Mauritius) Limited
3. AMAS Trust (Mauritius) Limited
4. Ambit Corpfin International Inc.
5. Anderson Ross Consulting Limited
6. Anex Management  Services Limited
7. Asiaciti Trust Mauritius Limited
8. Associated Consultants Ltd
9. BCM (Trustees) Limited
10. BL Financial Services (Mauritius) Limited
11. Businessconsult
12. BYB Offshore Companies Management Ltd 
13. C & M Worldwide Services Ltd
14. Cirne Corporate & Trust Services Ltd
15. CITCO (Mauritius) Limited
16. CITCO Trustees (Mauritius) Limited
17. Cititrust (Mauritius) Limited
18. CKLB International Management Ltd
19. Claridges Trust Company (Mauritius) Limited
20. Commonwealth Trust (Mauritius) Limited
21. Copex Management Services Ltd
22. Corporate & Chancery Group Ltd
23. Curatus Trust Company (Mauritius) Limited
24. CW Trustees Ltd
25. DTOS Ltd
26. Deutsche International Trust Corporation 

(Mauritius) Limited
27. Equity Trust (Mauritius) Limited
28. Federal Trust (Mauritius) Limited
29. Fideco Offshore Services Ltd
30. Fidei Finance International Limited
31. Financial Trust (Mauritius) Limited
32. First Island Trust Company Ltd
33. Frontière Finance Ltd
34. FWM International Limited
35. GenPro Consulting (Mauritius) Inc.
36. Global Wealth Management Solutions Ltd
37. GMG Trust Ltd
38. Halifax Management Limited
39. Hauteville Limited
40. Hemery Trust (Mauritius) Limited

41. Horwath Corporate Finance Limited
42. HTM Trustees Limited
43. ING Trust (Mauritius) Limited
44. Intercontinental Trust Limited
45. International Financial Services Ltd
46. International Management (Mauritius) Ltd
47. Inter-Ocean Management limited
48. Investec Trust (Mauritius) Limited
49. Jupiter Management (Mauritius) Limited
50. Kestrel Financial (Mauritius) Ltd
51. Key Financial Services Limited
52. Knights & Johns Management Ltd
53. Kross Border Trust Services Limited
54. L & P Corporate Services
55. Legis International (Financial & Management)

Services Ltd
56. Lex Consult Offshore Services Ltd.
57. Lindfield (Mauritius) Limited
58. Loita Management Services Limited
59. Maigrot-Koenig
60. Mauritius International Trust Company Limited
61. MauriTrust Consulting & Management Limited
62. Multiconsult Ltd
63. Mutual Trust Management Mauritius Limited
64. Offshore Incorporations (Mauritius) Limited
65. OCRA (Mauritius) Limited
66. PCL Legal Services (Mauritius) Ltd
67. Port Louis Management Services Ltd
68. Portcullis Trust (Mauritius) Ltd
69. Premier Trustees Ltd
70. Quorum Overseas Limited
71. Rothschild Trust (Mauritius) Limited
72. SCF (Mauritius) Ltd
73. SCI Essell Offshore Services
74. Schindlers Trust Mauritius Limited
75. Sovereign Trust (Mauritius) Limited
76. Standard Bank Trust Company (Mauritius) Limited
77. Temple Corporate Services
78. Trident Trust Company (Mauritius) Ltd
79. Trustlink International Limited
80. Turnstone Trusts and Securities Ltd
81. Voet & Co (Mauritius) Limited
82. Warwick Trust (Mauritius) Limited
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CORPORATE TRUSTEES

1. A.M.S. Trustees (Mauritius) Limited
2. Anchorage International Trust Limited
3. APG Trustee Corporation
4. BCB (Mauritius) Limited
5. Bermuda Trust (Mauritius) Limited
6. BL Trustees (Mauritius) Limited
7. CKLB International Trustees Ltd
8. Dinard Trustees Ltd
9. DTOS Trustees Ltd
10. Equatorial Trust Company Limited
11. Fairfield Trustees Ltd
12. HSBC Trustee (Mauritius) Ltd.
13. IFS Trustees
14. IMM Trustees Ltd
15. ITL Trustees Ltd
16. Lucre International Trustee Company Ltd
17. MC Trust Ltd.
18. Mutual Trust Company Mauritius Limited
19. Origin Trust Limited
20. PMSL Trustees Ltd
21. Southern Global Trust Company Ltd
22. The Meridian Trust Co. Ltd
23. The Oceanic Trust Co. Ltd

CAPTIVE INSURANCE 
MANAGERS

1. Agulhas Captive Insurance Services Limited
2. Aon Captive Insurance Management 

(Mauritius) Limited
3. Guardrisk Insurance Management Limited
4. Investec Management Services (Mauritius) Limited
5. Mutual Trust Insurance Management Limited
6. Specialised Insurance (Mauritius) 

Captive Management Company

Financial Services Commission Mauritius
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AML / CFT Anti Money Laundering & Combating the Financing of Terrorism
BoM Bank of Mauritius
CDS Central Depository and Settlement Co. Ltd.
CIS Collective Investment Scheme
CISNA Committee for Insurance, Securities and Non-Banking Financial Authorities
CSO Central Statistics Office
DTAT Double Taxation Avoidance Treaty
EPZ Export Processing Zone
FATF Financial Action Task Force
FDI Foreign Direct Investment
FIAML Financial Intelligence and Anti Money Laundering Act 2002
FIU Financial Intelligence Unit
FSAP Financial Sector Assessment Program
FSC Financial Services Commission
FSD Act Financial Services Development Act 2001
GBC 1 Global Business Category 1 Licensee
GBC 2 Global Business Category 2 Licensee
GDP Gross Domestic Product
IAIS International Association of Insurance Supervisors
ICT Information & Communications Technology
IMF International Monetary Fund
IOSCO International Organisation of Securities Commissions
KYC Know Your Client
MC Management Company
NBFI Non-Bank Financial Institution
NPF National Pension Fund
NSF National Savings Fund
OECD Organisation of Economic Cooperation and Development
OTC Over The Counter
ROSC Report on Observance of Standards and Codes
SADC Southern Africa Development Community
SEM Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd
SEMATS Stock Exchange of Mauritius Automated Trading System
SEMTRI Stock Exchange of Mauritius Total Return Index
SIPF Sugar Industry Pension Fund
TRC Tax Residence Certificate
UNSC United Nations Security Council
VAT Value Added Tax

ABBREVIATIONS & ACRONYMS
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